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CHARITABLE PURPOSE:
We are The Odyssey Trust Company Limited the charity that was established 
to hold, manage, safeguard and develop the investment in the Odyssey 
project for the benefit of all the people of Northern Ireland. 

CHARITABLE GOALS:
1) To advance public education by maintaining W5, Northern Ireland’s 

science and discovery centre; contributing to the advancement of scientific 
knowledge and education of the general public. 

2) To provide facilities for leisure and recreation pursuits at the Odyssey site, 
including the SSE Arena, Belfast, in the interests of social welfare and 
improved conditions of life. 
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Public Benefit Statement
Public Benefit is a legal requirement for every 
organisation set up with charitable aims, to be 
able to demonstrate. The Trustees confirm that 
they have had regard to the Charity Commission 
for Northern Ireland’s guidance on public 
benefit on reporting on the Charity’s benefits 
and achievements. The Trustees are confident 
that the activities have helped to achieve the 
Charity’s purposes and provide a benefit to the 
beneficiaries.

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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As Chair of The Odyssey Trust Company Limited 
(The Odyssey Trust also Odyssey Trust Group) it is 
my privilege to lead a committed group of Directors/
Trustees who work hard to ensure that the Odyssey 
continues to serve its founding principle to hold, 
manage, safeguard and develop the facility for the 
people of Northern Ireland.  As a charity registered 
with the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland  (No 
NIC100113) the Board and I are cognisant of the 
requirement to ensure that proper governance and 
probity are maintained.

Welcome from the 
Chairman and
Chief Executive

2018-19 proved to be a pivotal year in the history of 
the Odyssey as agreement was finally reached for 
the long overdue redevelopment of the Odyssey 
Pavilion. We all look forward to the delivery of the 
exciting vision for the new Pavilion, which will be a 
welcoming entertainment and leisure space that 
every family in Northern Ireland will be able to 
come to and enjoy.

The Odyssey Trust has its own development plan 
that will require nearly £8 million of investment by 
the end of 2020. We have made significant 
progress with the re-imagining of W5 and, in 
collaboration with the Inspiring Science Fund, we 
commenced the redevelopment of the main 
exhibition spaces along with the creation of MED-
Lab and AMAZE. MED-Lab is a joint creation with 
Almac Group and AMAZE is a state-of-the-art 
immersive space that has been supported by 
Tourism NI.  I am very grateful for their continued 
support.

The SSE Arena had another successful year with a 
wide range of concerts, sporting events and 
theatrical productions bringing world-class events 
to the city as well as providing the home venue for 
the Belfast Giants ice hockey team. We are all 
delighted at the success of the Belfast Giants who, 
as well as retaining the Challenge Cup, went on to 
win their Conference and the Elite League 
Championship and as a result qualified to play in 
the 2019 Champions League.  Congratulations are 
due to Coach Adam Keefe and the team who 
brought so much joy to our supporters this year.

We also welcomed another four USA colleges for 
the annual Friendship Four Hockey Tournament, 
and I was delighted that we were also able to host 
a University of Ulster sponsored Women’s Series, 
the first one outside the USA.  It is now clear that 
we need to bring all interested stakeholders 
together to develop and build an ice rink in the city 
for future generations to benefit from this great 
sport. A permanent ice rink would allow us to 
advance our social welfare programme with 
initiatives such as the Ice Academy for care 
experienced young people.

The work continues at the Odyssey to ensure that 
we deliver on its founding principles. I await with 
excitement the commencement of the Pavilion work 
and look forward to the completed redevelopment 
becoming an integral part of the Odyssey success 
story in the 20th year of its opening.

The Executive Team under the leadership of Chief 
Executive, Robert Fitzpatrick, are committed to 
delivering a ‘Best Experience Every Time’ to all who 
visit and I am delighted that this was once again 
recognised by Trip Advisor for the eighth year in a 
row.  I believe that we are well placed to create an 
outstanding visitor experience that will serve the 
city and country well. I welcome you all to the 
Odyssey in 2019-2020.

 
Eric Porter, Chairman
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I am delighted to report a record year of performance 
for the Odyssey Trust Group and I am indeed 
honoured to lead such a great group of people who 
dedicate their efforts to delivering on the founding 
vision for Odyssey.

The exciting news is that work is about to commence 
on the Odyssey Pavilion. After what seems like an 
eternity, the vision of the developer will deliver a 
world-class family entertainment destination that will 
complement the outstanding W5 and the SSE Arena, 
Belfast.

I look forward to celebrating 20 years of Odyssey 
with all our staff, supporters and customers. We are 
in a very strong position to capitalise on the 
opportunities that lie ahead of us.

Despite all our success, we have had to deal with 
challenges that life throws at us. We lost a few dear 
colleagues and friends in the last year or so. Tony 
Payne was a dedicated, passionate believer in the 
Odyssey and worked most of his professional life to 
further that aim.  He was a man of great integrity and 
courage and we all miss him. We also lost our 
Director and friend, Gerry Moore. Gerry was more 
than a Board member; he cared passionately about 
the Odyssey and its success and as Chair of OML 
Belfast Limited was a constant source of inspiration 
to me and I miss him. 

The Belfast Giants returned to the pinnacle of the 
Elite Ice Hockey League and I must pay tribute to all 
involved in delivering that success. We continue to 
grow the sport in Northern Ireland through the 
promotion of the Friendship Four, the Ladies 
University Challenge, the Odyssey Ice Academy and 
the Belfast Giants Outreach Programme. It is now 
time to have permanent ice facilities in the city and 
work has begun to deliver on that vision.

We will focus our attention in 2019 - 2020 on 
widening our public engagement. We are currently in 
the middle of a major investment initiative that will 
allow us to further embrace diversity and inclusion in 
a very meaningful way.

We are conscious of our responsibility to the 
environment and have committed significant 
resources to addressing this matter.

W5 will become a world-class science and discovery 
centre and we have exciting plans to use our own 
digital learning academy to support 20 years of 
education delivery by W5. We recently opened 
MED-Lab in association with Almac Group and our 
new immersive space AMAZE will bring further 
innovation and a unique customer experience for 
years to come.

I would like to pay tribute to my management team 
and staff who have worked so hard to create and 
deliver an exceptional customer experience. I have 
complete trust in their ability and dedication to 
continue this great service as we move into our third 
decade.

Onwards and upwards!

Robert Fitzpatrick, Chief Executive
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Education
W5
We manage and maintain W5, a world-class 
Science and Discovery Centre, advancing 
scientific knowledge and education through 
200+ STEM exhibits, interactive public 
shows and events, NI curriculum linked 
programmes, workshops and outreach 
activities, supporting better life chances for 
the people of Northern Ireland. 

SSE ARENA, BELFAST
We provide and maintain a world-class indoor 
arena facility that hosts a range of leisure and 
recreation events and activities, improving 
wellbeing and conditions of life for the people 
of Northern Ireland. 

Leisure and 
Recreation

PUBLIC BENEFITS:
1) We contribute to the 

advancement of scientific 
knowledge and education 
of the public and improve 
conditions of life.

2) We provide facilities for leisure 
and recreation to improve 
wellbeing and conditions of 
life.

Our
Impact

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

6



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

Strategic Direction Focus 2018-19
The Odyssey Trust Board developed their strategy  
for the three-year period 2018 to 2021.

From this strategy, short and longer term business 
objectives and subsequent action plans were 
created, focusing on six key areas.

 ● Education
 ● Social Affairs
 ● People & Culture
 ● Integration
 ● Sustainability
 ● Capital Resources

These objectives, their accompanying action plans 
and the overall strategy have been communicated to 
all Odyssey Trust staff.

For effective and focused board reporting a new 
performance dashboard was created. A key element 
of this dashboard was performance against short 
and long-term objectives by 31 March 2019, 99.5% 
were either completed or on track. 

The drive was to maximise the impact across the 
businesses and ongoing sustainability in the long- 
term for the benefit of the people of Northern Ireland.

To support this goal, 2018-19 was designated as the 
‘Year of People’. During the year the Trust continued 
to build on its success to date, improving integration 
across the businesses both in terms of organisational 
culture and structure.

It was a year where:

 ● Staff and management structures were changed 
to fully implement cross site integration 
opportunities and maximise the use of staff skills.

 ● Key senior members across the organisation 
were brought together to form the Business 
Investment and Growth (BIG) Team, with a 
focus on collective responsibility and individual 
accountability.

 ● A Value Action Plan was created to increase 
value for money through better cost control and 
maximising income.

 ● The culture of 'Best Experience Every Time' 
(BEET) introduced in 2017 was further 
embedded across the site. 
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EDUCATION 

Our team advances public education for the 
people in Northern Ireland by; operating and 
maintaining W5 and delivering public education 
programmes and outreach, delivering a 
programme of public events, exhibitions and 
engagement activities during the year. 

Our team manages the Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths (STEM) Ambassador 
Hub, supporting STEM Ambassadors to deliver 
STEM education to people of all ages throughout 
Northern Ireland, in both formal and informal 
settings.

LEISURE AND RECREATION 

Improving conditions for life underpins our 
facilities for leisure and recreation at the Odyssey. 

We use the SSE Arena, W5 and the Odyssey 
site to support wellbeing and better life chances 
for the people of Northern Ireland, improving 
conditions of life. 

What we Do
In 2018-19 the team at the Odyssey Trust 
continued to manage, safeguard and invest 
in the Odyssey for the benefit of the people of 
Northern Ireland. 

W5 Science and Discovery Centre is open to 
the public 362 days a year. The SSE Arena, 
Belfast held 138 event days (excludes rehearsal 
days) in the 10,000 seat multi-purpose indoor 
arena appealing to a wide range of audiences. 

We work with other partners to advance public 
education and support better life chances, 
working with parents, schools, universities and 
businesses to support opportunities in Science, 
Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM). 
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Our staff and volunteers 
work to ensure that users 

of the services and 
venues have the
Best Experience

Every Time.

PEOPLE

Our staff and volunteers work to ensure that 
users of the services and venues have the ‘Best 
Experience Every Time’ (BEET). 

In 2018-19 we employed 155 staff (full-time and 
part-time) to manage operate and maintain the 
businesses. 

Volunteers are critical to our business, both as 
STEM Ambassadors and in enhancing the visitor 
experience. 

BUILDING FOR THE FUTURE 

As a charity independent of government, we 
manage and operate facilities at the Odyssey site, 
relying on our visitors and beneficiaries to pay for 
the cost of education, leisure and recreation and 
their ongoing development. 

We set high standards to maintain quality and 
support the ongoing financial stability of the 
Odyssey.   

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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286,084

Demonstrating
Impact 2018/19

science shows in W5
- 36,000+ audience913

Advancing
Public

Education
34,845

W5 worked with 542 
schools - 426 Northen Ireland 
schools and 116 Republic Of 
Ireland schools

facilitated
STEM Activities1,909

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

visitors to W5 - advancing education

pupils supported by W5, through 
schools’ engagement

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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PUBLIC EDUCATION AND 
DISADVANTAGED COMMUNITIES

Dragon from the Lagan

During 2018-2019 we embarked on a new early 
years initiative ‘The Dragon from the Lagan’ which 
aimed to bring an interactive learning experience 
to a wider demographic of young children in  
Northern Ireland.  

Working with Sure Starts in East and West 
Belfast, W5 supported STEM engagement for 
parents with children aged under four, living in the 
25% most disadvantaged areas. 

Families participated in science-focused 
workshops in Sure Start, supported by the 
team from W5 and received their own copy of 
a specially commissioned book produced by 
local author and illustrator Blair Bailie titled ‘The 
Dragon from the Lagan Goes to W5’.  

“We have embraced the unique opportunity 
to partner with The Odyssey Trust and W5 to 
look at new and creative ways to support wider 
public engagement in the enhanced learning 
opportunities on offer. This social initiative has 
played a role in breaking down some of the 
barriers which stand in the way of our families 
wishing to visit W5 and engage with STEM 
subjects from a very young age. Thank you for 
making this possible.”
Tracey Wilson, Sure Start Co-ordinator

W5 held 273 public outreach 
events and activities at 125 
locations across Ireland - 
20,896 participants

W5 hosted over 220+ public 
events at W5 - engaging over 46,500 
public visitors

34,326 supported visits to 
W5 - 22,549 early years children, 9,629 
general admission, 2,148 essential aid
visitors

1,163 volunteer active
STEM Ambassadors

15,420
volunteer STEM hours by STEM Ambassadors

‘ Breaking down barriers to STEM’
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SCIENTIFIC KNOWLEDGE AND 
STEM

MED-Lab

In January 2019 W5 opened the MED-Lab, a new 
interactive medical themed exhibition area at W5. 
The only exhibition of its kind in Ireland, it 
offers visitors the opportunity to learn about the 
amazing systems that keep our bodies alive and, 
by using advanced imaging technologies, see 
inside the body. MED-Lab gives the public the 
ability to explore the body and enables visitors 
to get hands-on experience with some intriguing 
interactive exhibits, learning how the scientists 
at Almac Group discover and develop medicines 
and diagnostic tests for patients globally. 

Developed by W5, in consultation with local 
audiences, MED-Lab was funded by the Inspiring 
Science Fund - a partnership between the 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS), UK Research and Innovation 
(UKRI) and Wellcome. Additional support was 
awarded by the Almac Group. 

“It is a real privilege to be partners in such an 
exciting project. Almac is dedicated to advancing 
knowledge and interest in STEM subjects. We 
hope that through MED-Lab, combined with our 
long-term STEM outreach strategy, thousands of 
young people will be inspired to seek out STEM 
careers and realise the potential opportunities that 
exist across Almac.” 
Alan Armstrong, Chairman and CEO of the 
Almac Group
 
With the help of Science Communicator Emer 
Maguire, new online resources were developed to 
improve communication of scientific knowledge to 
the people of Northern Ireland.  

PUBLIC EDUCATION AND HEALTH

Giants’ Lifestyle Programme

From October 2018 - March 2019 the Belfast Giants 
delivered a Giant Healthy Lifestyles Programme visiting 
29 primary schools across Northern Ireland. Using the 
hook of the award-winning sporting champions, the 
team took to the road to encourage and educate young 
people on how to adopt more active and healthier 
lifestyles. 

“We feel it important to engage the Belfast Giants to 
help combat key community issues such as the rise in 
childhood obesity and poor health.”  
Jeff Mason, Hockey Development, Odyssey Trust

"Our pupils were excited to take part in the Belfast 
Giants’ Healthy Lifestyle Programme. Our young 
people had a great time learning about ways to be 
more active and healthier and enjoyed getting the 
chance to chat to inspiring sportsmen." 
Mr Sullivan, Principal - Crawfordsburn Primary 
School

We hope 
thousands of 

young people will be 
inspired to seek out 

STEM careers.
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GLOBAL CITIZENSHIP AND
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Seismic Citizenship

“At W5, we believe that it is vitally important that as 
part of their journey through education, pupils are 
aware of their sense of place and belonging in this 
world and understand how their actions affect others 
locally and globally.”  
Dr Catherine O’ Mullan, Chair of W5 

During October 2018 - February 2019, W5 and the 
British Council delivered a bespoke programme, 
‘Seismic Citizenship’, for 180 key stage two pupils 
and their teachers from seven schools located in 
areas of social deprivation. 

The Seismic Citizenship programme brought 
together two main elements: the importance of 
learning about other languages, cultures and places; 
global citizenship along with the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals.

The programme demonstrated to teachers the 
importance and relevance of forming international 
partnerships. It provided opportunities to learn 
Spanish, working with two Spanish speaking 
language assistants from Mexico and Colombia,
and utilising video and digital communication tools.

Children explored their designated country, learnt 
Spanish and understood what it means to be a 
global citizen. The programme culminated with a 
challenge, to build earthquake resistant skyscrapers, 
and pupils received CREST Discovery Awards for 
using STEM to solve real-life problems. 

ENGINEERING DESIGN SKILLS 
AND TEAMWORK

10th FIRST LEGO® League

W5 has been running the FIRST LEGO® 
League programme every year since 2008. The 
event, on 5 December 2018, involved almost 
200 pupils aged between 9 and 16, competing 
in 19 small teams from 16 different schools. 
Their LEGO® robots were programmed to 
complete the series of tasks and pupils had to 
present a project based upon the space 
exploration theme and demonstrate their 
engineering design skills and teamwork. 

The team from Belfast High School were the 
2018 winners and went on to compete at the UK 
Finals in Bristol and then the World Festival in 
Detroit, USA, supported by W5.

‘ A sense of place and belonging in this world.’
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SCIENCE CULTURE IN NI

Northern Ireland Science Festival 
February 2019

With over 180 events across 50+ venues, the 
2019 Northern Ireland Science Festival delivered a 
stimulating and wide range of events focusing on 
the wonders of science, technology, engineering 
and maths. These events presented some of the 
best scientists from Northern Ireland and beyond to 
discuss their work, cutting-edge research and what 
the future might hold. 

“W5 was a key partner in the development and 
delivery of the 2019 Science Festival, helping to 
build an appreciation and understanding of science 
in Northern Ireland.” 
Chris McCreery, Director NI Science

SCIENCE AND ART

Gaia
In February 2019 Gaia, the amazing touring artwork 
by UK artist Luke Jerram, was on display in W5. 
Measuring seven metres in diameter, Gaia featured 
120dpi detailed NASA imagery of the Earth’s surface.

The artwork was 1.8 million times smaller than the 
real Earth with each centimetre of the internally lit 
sculpture describing 18km of the Earth’s surface.

A specially made surround sound composition by 
BAFTA award winning composer Dan Jones is 
played alongside the sculpture. In Greek mythology 
Gaia is the personification of the Earth.  This was a 
unique opportunity, for young and old, to experience 
the Earth close up in an exquisite, three-dimensional 
way.

“I never really understood where Northern Ireland 
was in relation to other countries or that so much of 
the earth was water until I met Gaia. Thank you W5.”
Molly Fitzpatrick, Art student

W5 was a key partner
in the development
and delivery of the

2019 Science Festival.
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APPRECIATION OF HISTORY AND 
SCIENCE

Natural History Museum Dinosaur 
Encounter - W5 

Visitors to W5 were invited to step into the land 
before time as a Dinosaur Encounter touring 
exhibition from the Natural History Museum, which 
features lifelike and awe-inspiring animatronic 
models, came to Northern Ireland. The exhibition 
ran daily throughout the summer from 6 June to 31 
August and was free for visitors to W5.
 
The dinosaur safari took visitors through primordial 
landscapes, with moving and roaring beasts 
providing a real-life impression of the planet 160 
million years ago. 

The exhibition featured eight stunning animatronic 
dinosaur models which appeared as scientifically 
accurate as possible. Visitors were able to view 
artefacts such as dinosaur teeth and bones and 
learn about the role of the scientists working in 
palaeontology. The star of the show was the three 
quarter size Tyrannosaurus Rex, one of the largest 
land-dwelling meat eaters that ever lived. 

“We worked in partnership with the Natural History 
Museum to deliver a truly incredible educational 
experience for our visitors, inspiring them to 
discover more about dinosaurs.”  
Adrian Lutton, Head of Design  

The encounter was extremely popular attracting 
108,190 visitors to W5 between June and August 
2018. 

SCIENCE COMMUNICATION

Science communicator in residence, 
Emer Maguire

To assist with our aim to make STEM more 
accessible to a wider public audience, we appointed 
Emer Maguire as our Science Communicator in 
Residence. Musician, international award-winning 
science communicator, event host and award-
winning radio presenter, Emer’s tasks included 
developing online content for the new MED-Lab and 
producing the very catchy sing-a-long ‘Dragon from 
the Lagan’ jingle. 
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concerts
58 family

shows 21

leisure and recreation 
events days (excludes 
rehearsal days)

138

sports events
days59

Facilities for 
Leisure and 
Recreation 

Demonstrating
Impact 2018/19 

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

visitors to SSE Arena, Belfast -  
leisure and recreation

598,430  
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FAMILY LEISURE AND 
RECREATION

Arenacross STEM showcase

The fast-paced, adrenaline-charged Arenacross 
Tour series came to the SSE Arena, Belfast in 
January 2019. 

The many exciting facets and heart-racing 
details of the Arenacross show with its incredible 
motocross racing and seemingly impossible 
ballistic Freestyle MX feats have already been 
well documented. 

However, before the whole razzmatazz kicked off, 
200 Primary six pupils were given the opportunity 
to attend an interactive field-day at the SSE Arena 
and W5 Science and Discovery Centre. The 
programme is a joint venture between Arenacross, 
W5, the STEM Ambassadors involved in the 
construction project from ARUP, Graham Farrans 
JV and the Institution of Civil Engineers.

The pupils watched the construction and 
production crew work their magic, turning a 
pristine arena amphitheatre into a full-on dirt-filled 
racetrack. Aiming to deliver the most technically-
challenging race circuit imaginable in the shortest 
amount of time and in the smallest amount of 
space provided a fun platform from which to 
highlight just how STEM - Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths – can be applied. 

“Combining World Superbike Champions with 
hands-on STEM activities created a jaw-dropping, 
live action field trip for pupils from Duneane PS 
and St Oliver Plunkett PS from Toomebridge, 
Moneynick PS, Randalstown and Edwards PS 
from Castlederg. The fact that Jonathan Rea, 
the 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 World Superbike 
Champion, the most successful racer in Superbike 
history, spent time with the pupils was ‘the icing 
on the cake’.  In line with its incredible family 
entertainment and race action show, we took 
school field-trips to another level.”
Julia Carson, STEM Ambassador Hub Manager

public tickets provided to Belfast Giants

14,958 public tickets provided        
 to 2018 Friendship Four and Friendship 
Series games

Public tickets provided to 207 schools 
and community groups 

215,022
Total ice hockey spectators (includes 
Friendship Four and Continental Cup semis 
and final for both men and women)

Ice hockey
games

47
Average attendance ice 
hockey

4,574

‘ Taking field trips to another level.’

14,064   

visitors to SSE Arena, Belfast -  
leisure and recreation
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The SSE Arena Events April 2018 - March 2019
Tokio Myers
Carl Frampton
The Vamps
Nashville
The Chicago Blues Brothers
Bowie Experience
Fast & Furious Live
Noel Gallagher’s High Flying Birds
WWE Live
Rend Collective
Demi Lovato
Game of Thrones live concert experience
Thirty Seconds to Mars
Michael McIntyre
Avenged Sevenfold
Brave 13 Mixed Martial Arts
Michael Conlan Boxing
Iron Maiden
Milkshake Live

League of Gentlemen
Walking with Dinosaurs
Belfast International Tattoo
Jason Derulo
Girls & Dolls
Shania Twain
Cliff Richard
Supervet Live
Kylie
Farmers Bash
Lush Classical
Cirque du Soleil OVO
Jeff Lynne’s ELO
U2
Disney on Ice
Kevin Bridges
Continental Cup
Mumford & Sons
NCAA – Friendship Four Tournament

Pete Tong Classics
Basketball
Def Leppard
Andre Rieu
Snow Patrol
Fastlove
The 1975
Arenacross
Boyzone
Challenge Cup Semi Final
Brian Cox
Peace Proms
Bryan Adams
Red Hot Chilli Pipers
Twenty One Pilots
X Factor Live
UB40
Blue Planet II

Walking with Dinosaurs Def Leppard Cirque du Soleil OVO Snow Patrol Arenacross
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FAMILY SHOW

Belfast Peace Proms –  
SSE Arena, Sharing a love for music 
and passion for peace 

Free resource and choral education project for 
Primary Schools, Peace Proms returned to the 
stage of the SSE Arena, Belfast on 24 February 
2019. It was a huge celebration of youth, music, 
energy and sheer talent on an epic scale. 

A total of 8,711 attended the Proms ( 4,575 
Audience and 4,136 School Choirs and 
chaperones). The choirs came from 88 
schools, 76 from Northern Ireland and 12 from 
the Republic of Ireland with equal Catholic / 
Protestant representation. 

Peace Proms engages children and young 
people in music and enriches their lives 
through exceptional musical experiences and 
performances. 

“The SSE is an all-inclusive venue which is 
significant and important for this event as both 
communities in Northern Ireland are represented 
equally. Our choirs and orchestra love to perform 
at the SSE - they see it as ‘iconic’ and feel like 
stars for a day. 

The staff at the SSE are exceptional and cannot 
get enough credit for making sure that the 
experience is a great one for everyone concerned 
– the organisers as well as the performers. 
Everybody at Peace Proms very much recognise 
and appreciate all of their efforts to ensure the 
success of Peace Proms.” Sharon Treacy-
Dunne, CEO Cross Border Orchestra of Ireland

“It is impossible to leave the Peace Proms at SSE 
Arena, Belfast without feeling uplifted, renewed 
and full of hope for a brighter future.”
Kerrie Sweeney, Director, Titanic Foundation

The SSE is an all-
inclusive venue which 

is significant and 
important for this event 
as both communities 

in Northern Ireland are 
represented equally.

19



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

SPORT

Friendship Four November 2018

The Friendship Four tournament is a unique 
opportunity to watch NCAA college hockey outside 
the United States of America, only available at the 
SSE Arena, Belfast. The 2018 Friendship Four 
was the fourth year of this tournament featuring 
Boston University, The University of Connecticut, 
Yale University and tournament champions Union 
College.  

The total attendance was 19,891 spectators over the 
four games, including 11,958 complimentary tickets 
that were issued to schools, youth and community 
groups across Northern Ireland.  

The visiting players visited eight primary schools 
in the greater Belfast area, promoting leisure and 
recreation and providing an opportunity to raise 
awareness of the cultural connections between 
Northern Ireland and the USA.  

Free educational events were open to young people 
attending the Friendship Four 2018. Over 600 
students benefitted from STEM themed workshops in 
W5 prior to watching the Friendship Four games.

In partnership with Sport NI, a coaching seminar 
was delivered by representative coaches from each 
of the four participating universities. The seminar 
was attended by approximately 40 Northern Ireland 
coaches and focused on the recruitment of athletes 
and the pathway development of young athletes 
through the NCAA scholarship system.

The Friendship Four tournament took place during 
American Thanksgiving, which was celebrated by 
450 people from the USA and Nothern Ireland at a 
special Thanksgiving cultural celebration at Titanic 
Belfast.  

“Through this tournament, The Odyssey Trust 
continues to build friendships, through leisure and 
recreation and support educational advancement 
and community initiatives, benefiting the people 
of Northern Ireland.”  Steve Thornton, Head of 
Hockey, Belfast Giants

Building friendships
through leisure and 

recreation.
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SPORT

Belfast Giants - In the Land of Giants, 
Everyone is Equal

The SSE Arena, Belfast is home to Stena Line 
Belfast Giants, Ireland’s number one ice hockey 
team. Providing facilities for leisure and recreation 
the Odyssey Trust has been able to support the 
development of the sport, enjoyed by 215,022 fans 
during the year, with an average audience of 4,574 
per game.  

2018-19 was an exceptional season for the Belfast 
Giants both on and off the ice. It was a season which 
saw the Giants crowned Elite League Champions 
and successfully defend their Challenge Cup 
trophy. The team also qualified to compete in the 
Champions Hockey League in 2019-20, the top 
competition in all of Europe. 

Throughout the season the Giants played host to 14 
international games bringing teams and fans from 
abroad to the city of Belfast. Three Giants received 
accolades at the league-wide awards for the EIite 
League;  Adam Keefe crowned coach of the year, 
Tyler Beskorowany named Player of the Year and 
Darcy Murphy Forward of the Year. 

COMMUNITY

Giant Mission Christmas

Odyssey Trust supported Cash for Kids Mission 
Christmas 2018 appeal with the biggest Stena 
Line Belfast Giants annual Teddy Bear Toss to 
date. 

On Sunday 9 December the Belfast Giants 
played the Cardiff Devils where, after the Giants’ 
first goal of the game, over 1,500 fans tossed 
their teddies on to the ice for Mission Christmas. 
In the week following the game, teddies, toys 
and gifts were delivered to disadvantaged 
children aged 0 - 18 throughout Northern 
Ireland, by Cash for Kids who also received 
£498.65 in donations on the night. 

The Belfast Giants made some special deliveries 
to the children in Northern Ireland hospitals 
as part of their ongoing support work in the 
community and to spread some festive cheer. 
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SPORT AND SOCIAL INCLUSION

Odyssey Ice Academy

The second year of the Odyssey Ice Academy was 
delivered, aimed at good relations and reconciliation 
in Belfast, targeting 20 care experienced young 
people in the East Side, Colin, Ardoyne & Greater 
Ballysillan, Donegal Pass, Sandy Row and Markets 
areas. 

The Academy provides young people with a unique 
opportunity through leisure and recreation to 
learn and work together to overcome challenges, 
supporting wellbeing and better life chances. 

“I grew up in foster care from when I was 4 months 
old and I am now 19. When I turned 18 I had to 
move out of my foster home and into a supported 
accommodation, run by Barnardo’s, where I had my 
own flat. I found this very hard because I was in the 
middle of studying for my A-Levels and having to 
think about paying bills and cooking for myself. I 
didn’t have the right support network and as a result 
of this and my start in life I have suffered from poor 
mental health. 

I joined the Ice Academy in January 2018. It has 
been amazing for my confidence. I have made 
friends, been part of a team, learnt how to play ice 
hockey and had fun along the way. In December 

2018 I started work at W5 and I plan to start a 
foundation degree at Belfast Met in September 2019. 

None of this would have been possible without the 
support of the Odyssey Ice Academy.  

After facing many challenges, the Odyssey Ice 
Academy has helped me develop the skills, ability 
and strength to succeed in the next chapter in my 
life. 

I would like to thank everyone who has been 
involved in the Odyssey Ice Academy!”
Alesha Duncan, Graduate and Mentor, Odyssey 
Ice Academy
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Belfast Giants Community Action

The Belfast Giants has become part of the Belfast 
brand and fabric of leisure and recreation in Northern 
Ireland. As role models for many young people they 
provide support and inspiration for the local 
community. The impact of this should not be 
underestimated. Here are a few examples 
demonstrating our impact in the community.
 
“Around three years ago our daughter Cora was 
diagnosed with terminal cancer. Our key worker Neil 
from Cancer Fund for Children arranged a visit for 
our children to meet the Belfast Giants. We were 
apprehensive at first, but Laura met us at the SSE 
Arena and everyone made us feel very welcome. 
We couldn’t believe that each player took the time to 
talk to us and every player gave the boys their 
autograph. Adam Keefe invited us to watch a game. 
One of our sons enjoyed it so much, he could not 
stop talking about ice hockey, Adam Keefe and the 
Belfast Giants. He has since joined the Junior Giants. 
For us getting to meet the Belfast Giants was much 
needed quality family time. 

When our daughter Cora sadly lost her battle to 
cancer, Laura and Adam continued their support. We 
have been back at The Belfast Giants several times 
to meet the team and attend matches. Thank you 
Belfast Giants for your continued support for our 
family.” Galway Family

“Being the parents and family of a child with both 
physical and medical disabilities comes with 
numerous daily challenges. The repercussions of this 
are that you rarely actually spend time together as a 
family having fun and forgetting about the hard times.  
Well that was until we walked into the SSE Arena, 
Belfast four years ago and met the Belfast Giants.  
Not only as a family did we find a leisure activity that 
we all enjoyed, we found a sport that our son Blake 
would become passionate about and a team and fans 
that cared. Our daughter Pixie decided to join the 
Giants’ cheerleading team and is loving her new 
activity. 

The Belfast Giants to us means more than words can 
explain; experiences, memories, fun, support and 
drive to keep going. When we get through those 
doors on game day and get into our seats, we 
become a family, just doing normal things. We cheer, 
we shout, we laugh. Winning makes it even better but 
even if we lose, we know one thing for sure, you keep 
fighting and do your best. Thank you to EVERYONE 
at the Odyssey Trust for being our rock. x.”
McCaughey Family

Angel Wishes support children throughout Northern 
Ireland affected by cancer related conditions.
“Whilst we cannot change the diagnosis or outcome 
for our children, the extra special nights spent at the 
SSE Arena, Belfast most definitely lifts their spirits 
and in return the children keep positive and keep 
fighting.”  Gaye Kerr, Founder Angel Wishes

Creating
experiences, 

memories, fun, 
support and drive to 

keep going.
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SPORT

Inaugural Friendship Series

In January 2019, the Odyssey Trust hosted the 
inaugural Friendship Series, the first ever 
international NCAA Women’s ice hockey games, 
between Northeastern University and Clarkson 
University at the SSE Arena, Belfast. The event is 
unique to NCAA athletics as the only women’s ice 
hockey games to be held outside of the United 
States. 

Showcasing Belfast and Northern Ireland to an 
international audience, the event helped to promote 
women in sports, and further established Belfast as 
an international destination for leisure, recreation 
and education. 

“As Lord Mayor of Belfast I welcome the opportunity 
to support Northern Ireland’s first ever women’s ice 
hockey event and congratulate the Odyssey Trust 
on this amazing achievement.” Lord Mayor of 
Belfast, Deirdre Hargey

SPORT

Basketball Hall of Fame 2018

NCAA Division I College basketball came back to 
Belfast, for 2018. The Sport Changes Life 
Foundation in partnership with the Naismith 
Memorial Basketball Hall of Fame and the Metro 
Atlantic Athletic Conference hosted its second 
‘Belfast Classic’ in The SSE Arena, Belfast on 29th 
and 30th November and 1st December 2018. The 
tournament was broadcast live across America. 

The 2018 event featured an expanded field to eight 
schools. The schools competed in two four-team 
brackets, with university campus round games in 
America leading into two tournament brackets in 
Belfast aptly named ‘Samson’ and ‘Goliath’ after the 
iconic Harland and Wolfe cranes in the Titanic 
quarter shipyard of Belfast.

‘ Northern Ireland’s first ever women’s ice hockey event.’
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Brian Cox 

The SSE Arena was privileged to be a Partner for 
the February 2019 NI Science Festival, hosting 
‘Universal with Professor Brian Cox’ a show which 
took an audience of all ages to the edge of current 
understanding about the origin and evolution of our 
solar system and the universe. Whether an avid 
science reader or a total novice, Professor Cox 
made challenging ideas accessible to all. 

FAMILY SHOWS

Cirque du Soleil

Cirque du Soleil made a return to Belfast in 
October. More than five million people worldwide 
have seen the show since it premiered in Montreal 
in 2009. OVO embarked on a new journey, 
performing the same captivating production, but 
as an arena performance, giving more people the 
opportunity to enjoy a Cirque du Soleil show in 
their own town. 

Walking with Dinosaurs

Dinosaurs once again roamed the land when 
Walking with Dinosaurs – The Arena Spectacular 
came to Belfast in August, based on the award-
winning BBC Television Series, starring Michaela 
Strachan as ‘Huxley’ the palaeontologist. The 
production showcased spectacular and colourful 
changes to the dinosaurs based on the latest 
scientific research including the likely feathering 
of some species. The show was a must-see for 
audiences of all ages. 

Blue Planet II Live in 
Concert  
Following the incredible success of the BAFTA 
award-winning BBC One television series Blue 
Planet II, presented by Sir David Attenborough, 
BBC Studios and FKP Scorpio came to the SSE 
Arena, Belfast with their UK and Ireland live 
tour. It brought the wonders and mysteries of the 
planet’s oceans and wildlife to the arena stage 
for thousands of fans to enjoy.

The show presented a selection of stunning 
visuals from the television series, highlighting 
the incredible natural wonders of our blue planet 
in breath-taking detail, projected on a state-
of-the-art 200 square metre 4K Ultra HD LED 
screen. The visuals were accompanied by the 
original immersive music score by Bleeding 
Fingers Music, performed live by a full symphony 
orchestra. It was a great way to conclude the 
2019 Northern Ireland Science Festival. 
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Our staff and volunteers work to ensure that users 
of the services and venues have the ‘Best 
Experience Every Time’ (BEET). In 2018-19 we 
employed 155 staff (full-time and part-time) to 
manage, operate and maintain the businesses. 
Volunteers are critical to our business, both as 
STEM Ambassadors and in enhancing visitor 
experience. 

People Demonstrating
Impact 2018/19 

£50,281  
investment in staff training 
and development

volunteer supported events45

employees155

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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registered volunteers
60

16,740 volunteer hours 

               charities – Friends of 
the Cancer Centre and Northern 
Ireland Air Ambulance.  

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

We aim to support staff throughout their working 
lives at the Odyssey.  All staff receive an 
induction and then job-related competencies are 
delivered to specific groups as required, to 
ensure that staff are confident and comfortable 
in their roles. 

In our 2018 staff survey 91% of staff felt that 
they could reflect the values of the organisation. 
We invested £50,281 in staff training and 
development. 

This included training in customer care, health 
and safety, safeguarding, first aid, food hygiene, 
GDPR compliance, finance, management 
support, mentoring and shadowing and equality 
& diversity.

Health and Wellbeing

As part of our employment package we support 
staff to become more active, providing a Cycle to 
Work scheme with access to Belfast Bikes and 
hold yoga classes to support health and 
wellbeing. 

During May and June the Odyssey staff 
participated in the Sustrans and PHA Active 
Travel Challenge 2018, and won the 91-249 
employee category as the most active workplace 
in Northern Ireland. 

1,163  volunteer active 
STEM Ambassadors

15,420  volunteer STEM hours

£1,753 raised by staff for

‘ Most active workplace in NI Award.’

employees
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‘Best Experience Every Time’(BEET) is a central 
initiative across the Odyssey that places the 
customer at the heart of everything we do. This 
means that from start to finish, the total interaction 
between customer and business is the very best 
possible. 

In creating this experience, we strive to find effective 
ways to engage with both new and existing 
customers and focus on the growth of our business. 
By providing our customers with the best experience 
every time, we hope to see our satisfied customers 
become loyal customers and brand ambassadors.

Whether it’s an education visit to W5, a leisure and 
recreation experience at the SSE Arena, Belfast or a 
Belfast Giants game, we are a customer-centric 
organisation and all our stakeholders, including staff, 
play a crucial role in helping us develop and prosper. 
BEET also applies to all stakeholders and clients 
who engage with us, fund us and work alongside us.

BEET 2018-19 
Extensive research was undertaken in 2018 to 
understand the customer journey at the Odyssey, 
including customer experience audits, mystery 
shops, staff interviews and group workshops. 
BEET was introduced into our employment practices 
such as recruitment and selection and performance 
reviews. 

A BEET Ambassador Group was established, with 
staff representatives across the business, helping 
identify opportunities and priorities. 

We undertook our first ever Odyssey staff ‘pulse’ 
survey, to improve employee welfare. We received 
feedback in relation to the need to improve internal 
communications. In response to this we invested 
in the Odyssey Hub, which is an accessible online 
communications platform for all Odyssey staff. This 
intranet improves internal communications and is a 
one stop shop for all news, announcements, events, 
customer feedback and a valuable communications 
tool.  

BEET 2019-20 
We will continue to work on areas of improvement 
identified by both customers and staff. 

New platforms such as the BEET Ambassador Group 
and the Odyssey Hub offer better opportunities for 
feedback and ideas that will become significant tools 
in helping us improve the customer experience. 

As we look to enhance BEET further, we will continue 
to invest in staff training and utilise our digital 
resources to extend our research, benchmarking our 
progress against similar organisations. 

Staff Pulse Survey Spring 2018

Strongly 
Disagree

Disagree Neutral/
neither 

agree or 
disagree

Agree Strongly 
Agree

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

I reflect the values of the organisation in my daily work 
in going above on behalf of the customers/colleagues

Responses

The Odyssey Hub
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In May 2018 Odyssey staff came together to set up 
a fundraising initiative known as ‘1BEET’ to work 
together to raise money to support local charities. 
Staff nominated and then voted for charities to 
support in 2018-19, with Air Ambulance NI and 
Friends of the Cancer Centre receiving the most 
votes.

“We are delighted that staff are wanting to give back 
to charities close to their hearts by organising and 
taking part in various fundraising activities. The 
Odyssey Trust is very proud to facilitate and support 
this worthwhile staff initiative.”   Wendy Langham, 
Head of Social Affairs at Odyssey

During the year staff organised events and activities, 
raising £1,753.62 which was split between Friends 
of the Cancer Centre and Northern Ireland Air 
Ambulance.

Skills development and work 
inspiration

Staff at the Odyssey support better life chances for 
young people in several ways including hosting 
employment related site visits and work inspiration. 
During February – March 2019, staff at the SSE 
Arena, Belfast supported five groups totalling 130 
visitors from higher education, further education and 
community groups including Ulster University, 
Belfast Met, BIFFY Return to Work and Include 
Youth.  

Volunteering
In 2018-19 the Odyssey Trust had the support 
of 60 registered volunteers in various roles.
Volunteering helps people make new friends, 
increases confidence and enables people to 
play a part in the community. Primarily providing 
support at Belfast Giants home games, 
volunteering roles range from customer service, 
to game day operations, and production behind 
the scenes.

We have many longstanding volunteers who 
have been with us for several years and others 
who joined during the year. 

Foreman family 
Michelle and Emily are mother and daughter 
and joined the volunteer crew in 2018.
 
“ I am a big Belfast Giants fan like the rest of 
my family. I was delighted to be able to 
volunteer for the Odyssey Trust and use this 
experience as part of my Duke of Edinburgh 
award. As well as great fun, I think volunteering 
gives me a better chance of getting paid work 
and improves my career prospects. I feel much 
more confident meeting new people and 
working as part of a team since I started 
volunteering.” Emily Foreman, Volunteer

Responses
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ACCESSIBILITY AND INCLUSION

Widening Public Engagement  

During 2018-19 work continued at the Odyssey to 
improve accessibility to public education, leisure 
and recreation throughout the year. Following 
the introduction of the JAM card and training for 
all staff in 2018, Specialisterne NI worked with 
the Odyssey to look at how we can continue to 
improve access to people with autism. 

A new Changing Places Facility was built in the 
SSE Arena and opened in November 2018, with 
great feedback from users. 

Staff worked with Fleming Fulton Young Enterprise 
Company ‘8teen’ as advisors and supported them 
to sell their products at the Friendship Four 2018 
tournament, where they sold out, much to the 
delight of the Directors. “I thought I’d let you know 
that ‘8teen’ have done incredibly well in the Young 
Enterprise competition and once again have won 
the best team in Belfast.”  
Teacher, Deirdre Gamble

Website upgrades included accessibility videos 
assisting customers with access requirements to 
plan their visit to the Odyssey in advance. 

Quiet Sessions were popular in both W5 and in the 
SSE Arena Winter Skate to support accessibility 
for ASD users. 
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Attitude is Everything 

Attitude is Everything is an organisation that 
improves deaf and disabled people’s access to 
live music. It sent a mystery shopper to Shania 
Twain in the SSE, Arena on 29th September 
2018 with the following results. 

 ● Booking – rating 9/10
 ● Viewing area stewarding rating – 10/10
 ● Staff awareness of the access facilities – 

10/10
 ● Disability awareness of staff – 10/10
 ● Customer service rating – 10/10
 ● Access rating – 9/10
 ● Overall enjoyment – 9/10

The volunteer felt that they had never received 
such excellent customer service.
They indicated they would return to the venue 
knowing that the staff provide such good 
customer service and take access seriously.  The 
SSE Arena was shortlisted for two awards in the 
Attitude is Everything Outstanding Attitude 
awards, winning The Access Starts Online 
Award.

AUTISM

Specialisterne NI 

In August 2018 we commissioned Specialisterne NI to 
support the Odyssey in its ambition to become more 
autism friendly. Specialisterne NI was engaged to 
carry out an initial survey with autistic customers and 
to deliver training workshops for staff.

The survey was completed by 184 customers. “I am 
very pleased to see this, it is a sign you recognise 
people with different abilities and you are willing to see 
what can be changed. Go W5!” Survey Participant

Workshops were designed in response to the 
survey feedback and one-to-one meetings with staff. 
Workshop participants told us that this helped make 
the content more relevant and the role plays realistic. 

Following the Specialisterne NI survey and feedback 
from customers, a Quiet Space is now available at the 
SSE Arena during events and plans for a new Quiet 
Space in W5 are underway. Improvements in signage 
and information for customers were made and ear 
defenders are now available for customers in W5 and 
at the SSE Arena. 

Work will continue in 2019-20 to make further 
adjustments to address the needs of all customers to 
support improved public access to education, leisure 
and recreation across the site. 

Specialisterne NI Survey

Which part(s) of W5 would you consider to be most 
accessible for autistic people? (176 answer)

Reception  25.57%   45
Ground floor  36.36%   64
Gift shop  14.77%   26
Spacebase  23.30%   41
Discovery  40.34%   71
ClimbIt   16.48%   29
Go    19.32%   34
See/Do   43.75%   77
Exhibitions  33.52%   59
Workshops  10.23%   18
Other     6.25%   11

Are you an autistic person or do you have a family 
member who is on the autistic spectrum? (184 answer)

64% 24%

I know a family member who 
is on the autistic spectrum

I have visited W5 with someone 
on the autistic spectrum

I am very pleased to see this, 
it is a sign you recognise people with 

different abilities and you are willing to 
see what can be changed. Go W5!
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Access Address Book 
A total of 815 people have signed up to the Arena 
Access Address Book introduced in 2018 to 
facilitate access to the Arena, advising us of their 
requirements prior to their visit. 

Sensory Bags
The introduction of new sensory bags in February 
2019 that include ear defenders, fidget toys, 
weighted lap pad, cue card and wobble cushion 
to help those with autism and sensory processing 
issues is proving popular. The bags can be pre-
booked or picked up at the concierge desk on 
arrival.

New Changing Places Facility

We invested in a new changing places facility which 
opened in November 2018.

“Since it opened, I have been at the SSE Arena 
Belfast at least once a year.  I have seen everything 
in the arena. From sporting victory for the Belfast 
Giants ice hockey team, to dancing the whole night 
away even with a broken foot, and the dramatic 
night that One Direction cancelled their concert at 
the last minute – the only time they ever cancelled!

However, up until now one thing was missing – I 
couldn’t safely eat or drink what I wanted as the 
accessible toilets did not have a hoist or changing 
bench. I am delighted to say that the SSE Arena 
have now installed a Changing Places registered 
toilet on the first floor of the building, in the 
immediate vicinity of the lift and main first floor 
accessible seating platforms.

Changing Places toilets are gradually popping up 
across Northern Ireland, but this is by far the most 
important addition we have had here to date.  

The Changing Places toilet is going to transform the 
experience for us all. To be able to eat and drink 
what I want to, and not need to worry about the next 
time I will be near a toilet is so exciting I am already 
geared up to go!” Michaela Hollywood, visitor 

BSL Interpreters and Audio 
Description

During 2018-19 we saw an increase in the number 
of requests for British Sign Language interpreters.  
We worked closely with customers and providers 
within the parameters of show production. Along 
with the regular provision of a hearing loop on every 
show for customers who are hearing impaired, we 
provided audio description for a number of events 
including Blue Planet II, which was very well 
received. 

“ I would like to commend you and your staff, your 
disability policy has clearly been well communicated 
and trained out to your hospitality staff. We have 
visited the arena on a number of occasions with 
James and have always been welcomed and 
treated with the utmost dignity and respect. 

Initiatives like these make such a difference to 
people like James, and don’t underestimate the 
impact it also has on those who support them. I am 
usually the one whispering in his ear telling him 
what is happening, last night I was able to sit back 
and enjoy the show as well. I kept an eye on him 
throughout and it was wonderful to see his 
reactions, I could tell he was definitely engaged and 
thoroughly enjoying himself.” Arena customer
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The Odyssey Trust is a charity but also supports 
other charities in the delivery of its charitable goals, 
improving the conditions of life. It does so in a 
number of ways including raising awareness through 
supporting campaigns, providing facilities, supporting 
fundraising and events. 

CAMPAIGNS 

For Every Childhood 

The Trust supported NSPCC 2018 Childhood Day 
which is about keeping children safe and how this 
starts with a conversation. Childhood Day exists to 
celebrate all children and young people and their 
right to a safe childhood. 

“ The support of the Odyssey Trust including W5 
and the SSE Arena meant so much to us, both in 
terms of raising vital funds but crucially also helping 
us to raise awareness of the importance of children 
and young people speaking out and staying safe.” 
Catherine Nuttall, Head of Fundraising NSPCC 
Northern Ireland

FUNDRAISING AND GUEST 
APPEARANCES

Tinylife

During 2018-19 we supported over 100 charities in 
their fundraising activities, providing hundreds of 
tickets for use in ballots and as prizes. For example 
tickets to Michael Bublé raised £250 for the Marie 
Curie Belfast Brain Game, contributing to the overall 
auction total of £25,630. A Belfast Giants jersey 
signed by the team and a W5 Family pass helped 
TinyLife.
"The evening was a great success. Our guests were 
very generous helping us to raise £22,000 for 
TinyLife."

ACTION MENTAL HEALTH

We also support many events and activities by 
raising the profile of the events providing by guest 
appearances from Belfast Giants. For example 
Belfast Giant Blair Riley joined the Cancer Focus 
Cheers to 50 Years campaign and Head Coach 
Adam Keefe was a guest speaker at the Action 
Mental Health Head First Awards. 

FACILITIES 

Lagan Navigation Trust 

The Odyssey Trust supported the Lagan Navigation 
Trust in ‘The advancement of citizenship and 
community development’ by hosting The Waterways 
Storymaking Festival Awards, celebrating the 27-
mile navigation through creative writing, tapestry and 
photography. 

“First surveyed by one of Cromwell’s Generals in 
1649, the Lagan Navigation became the busiest 
inland waterway in Ireland and is inextricably linked 
to the Harbour, ‘Linenopolis’ and the communities of 
the shipyard, making the Odyssey the ideal location 
for this celebration event.”  Brenda Turnbull, Chief 
Officer, Lagan Navigation Trust. 

Odyssey Trust - In the Community

33



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

Building for 
the future 

Investment 2018/19
The Odyssey Trust, the charity that was established 
to hold, manage, safeguard and develop the 
investment in the Odyssey project for the benefit of 
all the people of Northern Ireland, continues to build 
for the future. 

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Retail, Virtual Reality

Investment in science and education continued in 
W5. The reclassification of use of a vacant unit, 
adjacent to W5, from licensed premises to education 
and retail use provided an extra 10,000 sq ft for W5. 
An overall investment of £900,000 enabled the 
development of new exhibition, retail and café 
spaces. 

LEGO®

The enhanced retail area included a new LEGO® 
zone and virtual reality experience. 

The additional space also accommodated a larger 
waterfront café and eating area for visitors to W5. 
The increased exhibit area has been transformed, 
enabled by the £4.5 million investment in W5 and 
redevelopment is underway. 

In 2018-19 the redevelopment of W5, funded by a £3 
million grant from the Inspiring Science Fund – a 
partnership between the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy, UK Research and 
Innovation and Wellcome and a further £1.5 million 
from the Odyssey Trust, got underway. This will 
transform the visitor experience at W5 and is aimed 
at encouraging more young people to pursue STEM 
careers.

MED-Lab

MED-Lab, the new interactive medical themed 
exhibition created in association with Almac Group, 
opened in January 2019 and AMAZE, a new 
360-degree virtual reality space, opened in June 
2019.
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Redevelopment

Aivaf Ltd was awarded the contract, the single 
largest investment at W5 since it opened in 2001, 
to create seven new themed zones, scheduled to 
be completed summer 2020. Aivaf specialises in 
creating amazing experiences and has worked all 
around the world in visitor centres and museums. 

"This major investment will create a series of new 
and exciting interactive exhibitions that will appeal 
to all ages, widening public engagement in Science, 
Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM), 
enhancing knowledge and understanding amongst 
the next generation of budding scientists through 
interactive learning’"
Dr Catherine Mullan, Chair W5

Innovation 

In January 2019, £400,000 was secured from 
Tourism NI towards AMAZE, the UK and Ireland’s 
first tourist attraction to combine all the elements of 
immersive soundscapes, multi-screen projections, 
physical props and structures, 360 degree projection 
and augmented reality portals enabling visitors to 
delve into new worlds and experience technological 
innovations first hand.

“AMAZE is an important part of the transformation of 
W5. This incredible technology will allow us the 
opportunity to create new exhibitions that will appeal 
to people of all ages.”
Dr Catherine O'Mullan, Chair W5

AMAZE supports Tourism NI’s ambition to double 
tourism value by 2030 and W5’s sustainability, 
targeting new audiences and investing in immersive 
technology.

This is incredible technology that will appeal to people of all ages.
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Facilities

To ensure our artists and acts continue to enjoy 
their experience at the SSE Arena, Belfast we 
invested in a new artist arrival entrance and gate 
house to segregate the operational aspects from the 
performer requirements. The investment of £350,000 
supports the Trust’s ongoing commitment to artists 
and acts visiting Belfast, providing leisure and 
recreation opportunities for the people of Northern 
Ireland. 

Further investment in the SSE Arena, Belfast 
included a lift replacement programme. 

The ongoing sustainability programme to upgrade 
existing lighting to LED fittings continued with the 
installation of new LED uplighter fittings on the Lagan 
walkway, benefiting all site visitors.

Pavilion Redevelopment 

Following the planning approval for the major re-
configuration of the Odyssey Pavilion in February 
2018, plans for the redevelopment of the Pavilion 
got underway. The redevelopment, estimated to cost 
£10-£12 million, will create hundreds of jobs. 

“Our key objective is to improve the overall visual 
quality and tenant offering of the Pavilion, making it a 
more attractive and user-friendly destination.”
Guy Hollis from Matagorda 2 Ltd, the company 
that now owns the Pavilion.  

“For some years, the Odyssey Pavilion has suffered 
from underinvestment in comparison to W5 and the 
SSE Arena. It is now very heartening to see the new 
owner make a strong long-term commitment to what 
is an extremely important asset for the people of 
Northern Ireland.”  
Robert Fitzpatrick, CEO of the Odyssey Trust

‘ A long-term commitment for the people of Northern Ireland’
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In 2018-19 we prioritised environmental 
sustainability, making decisions and taking actions 
in the interests of protecting the natural world. It 
is an important topic at the present time, people 
are realising the full impact that businesses and 
individuals can have on the environment. We are 
committed to making responsible decisions that will 
reduce our negative impact on the environment. 

#MakeAChange

The Odyssey Trust and Belfast City Council joined 
forces in a new campaign, Earth to Odyssey, to 
inspire families across Northern Ireland to ‘Make 
A Change’ and protect the planet. The campaign, 
which ran throughout February and March, 
highlighted key environmental issues and provided 
guidance on how small changes can have a big and 
positive impact in the long term. 

Earth to Odyssey was supported by a packed 
programme of events including the amazing ‘Gaia’ 
touring artwork of the earth by UK artist Luke Jerram. 
Measuring seven metres in diameter, Gaia features 
120dpi detailed NASA imagery of the Earth’s surface.  
Four outdoor sculptures made from recycled 
materials were located at the Odyssey throughout 
the campaign with environmental information for the 
public. The campaign concluded with Blue Planet II 
at the SSE Arena, on 23 March 2019.

Councillor Kate Nicholl, Chair of People and 
Communities Committee in Belfast City Council said:
"Belfast City Council is delighted to partner with the 
Odyssey Trust on Earth to Odyssey. The Earth to 
Odyssey campaign provides the perfect opportunity 
to use our sculptures to help our residents visualise 
the amount of unnecessary waste we create in 
Belfast, providing a stimulus to reduce waste and 
think about recycling more."

During the year a new site-wide group Earth to 
Odyssey (E2O) was established to work on site-wide 
improvements, projects, programmes and campaigns 
that support environmental conservation, 
environmental protection, climate activism and 
advocacy. Our environmental education work is 
delivered through W5 and site educators. 
Programmes focused on green efforts including 
energy efficiency, recycling and single use plastics to 
educate and inspire the next generation of 
environmental leaders and support family 
environmental education. 

The Odyssey Trust is a partner in the Maritime Mile 
project that includes elements of conservation and 
greening efforts including landscaping, marine 
education and biodiversity to support natural habitats 
and protect clean air and water. 

The E2O site-wide team focused on the development 
of an environmental policy and the introduction of 
new systems and adjustments to manage 
environmental impacts and outcomes, to reduce, 
reuse, recycle and recover where possible.

Environment
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In 2018-19 the following improvements towards the 
charity's impact on the environment were made:

 ● 1,200 photo-voltaic panels generated 300 megawatts 
of electricity, 6% of Arena’s energy needs 

 ● 100% of electrical energy came from renewable 
sources

 ● Use of waste compactors on site to reduce emissions 
from vehicles transporting waste from site

 ● Introduction of food bins, new recycling procedures 
and improved signage 

 ● Introduction of reusable cups in the W5 cafés and 
SSE Arena

 ● Introduction of mobile ticketing in W5 and SSE Arena 
(paperless)

 ● Removal of all plastic packaging and utensils, 
replacing poly-carbon food boxes and plastic forks 
with cardboard trays with wooden forks

 ● Removal of all plastic straws

 ● Replacement of PET bottles in suites use of 
returnable glass bottles.

In 2018-19 we focused on waste and raising 
environmental awareness amongst staff and customers, 
developing processes that will support future 
sustainability. As a result of our actions we won the 
Sustainable Transport Workplace Award 2018.

In 2019-20 we will continue to work closely with the waste 
industry and our business partners to improve on these 
steps we have taken, pushing for better solutions to 
sustainability and waste issues.

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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The Odyssey Trust 
Company Limited

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

GOVERNANCE
The Board of Trustees, who are also Directors of The 
Odyssey Trust Company Limited (the Company, the 
Charity, the Charitable company) for the purposes of 
the Companies Act 2006, presents its report and the 
audited financial statements of the company and its 
subsidiary companies (together the Group) for the 
year ended 31 March 2019.

The Trustees have adopted the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006, the Charities Act (Northern 
Ireland) 2008(13) and Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their financial 
statements in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective 1 January 
2015 (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), in preparing the 
Annual Report and financial statements of the Group 
and the Charitable company. 

Governance & 
Financial

Review
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT
The Charity is a company limited by guarantee 
with charitable status (registered with the Charity 
Commission for Northern Ireland on 5 April 2016 
(NIC 100113)); as such, it does not have any 
share capital. The Charity was established under 
a Memorandum of Association, which sets out the 
objects and powers of the charitable company and 
is governed under its Articles of Association. The 
Trustees are members of the Charity and in the 
event of the Charity being wound up as members 
they are required to contribute an amount not 
exceeding £10. The company, being a charity 
registered with the HMRC (XR23673) for the full 
year, has no liability to corporation tax. 

TRUSTEES AND DIRECTORS
The Trustees of the Charity under the requirements 
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association are 
elected to serve on the Board for a period of four 
years and can be re-elected for a further period of up 
to six years. 

The Trustees seek to ensure that a broad 
representation of skills is properly reflected on the 
Board to include skills in the areas of finance, legal, 
science, education, marketing and property.

The Board currently consists of 12 Trustees/Directors 
with a maximum of 12 Trustees/Directors (minimum 
7) who meet throughout the year and are responsible 
for the strategic direction and policy of the Charity. 
During the financial year, the Board met seven times.

Sub committees of the Board consist of Audit, Risk 
and Investment Committee and Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. The purpose of the Audit, 
Risk and Investment Committee is to monitor the 
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control 
and risk management systems, processes and 
investments. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee determines and agrees with the Board 
the framework for the overall remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Team. 
The salaries of the Executive Team are reviewed 
annually and adjusted to reflect average earnings. 
Remuneration is benchmarked against pay levels 
in similar sectors by functional role and adjusted 
accordingly to ensure salaries are at a level which 
will ensure that the Charity continues to attract and 
retain the appropriate senior staff for each specific 
role.

A scheme of delegation is in place and day-to-day 
responsibility for the provision of the services rests 
with the Chief Executive Officer assisted by an 
Executive Team covering finance, administration, 
operations and commercial. The Chief Executive 
Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Charity 
delivers the services specified and that key 
performance indicators are met.

TRUSTEES’ INDUCTION AND
TRAINING
New Trustees attend a detailed initial induction 
session which aims to familiarise them with their 
role and responsibilities and the background and 
purpose of the Group detailing the Group company 
structure. The induction sessions are led by the Chief 
Executive Officer and include the following areas:

 ● charitable objectives and purpose together with 
business and strategic plans; 

 ● an overview of the main legal agreements within 
which the Group and Charity operate; 

 ● the current financial position of the Group and 
Charity; and 

 ● details of the key issues affecting the Group and 
Charity including a review of the risk register.

During the financial year, one Trustee received 
induction training on their appointment to the Board.

The Trustees/Directors have complied with the 
requirements to present a Strategic report and 
Directors report under the Companies Act 2006 
within the body of the Annual report of the Trustees. 
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Financial Review
The financial year ending 31 March 2019 was a 
good year with income increasing by £759,364 
(4.5%). This was mainly attributable to capital grants 
received as part of the Inspiring Science Fund, a 
partnership between the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy and Wellcome. The 
investment will redevelop W5 to a world-class, 
innovative and immersive science and discovery 
centre.  

The Inspiring Science Fund enabled the Charity to 
secure additional funding from the Almac Group 
towards MED-Lab, a new interactive medical themed 
exhibition. Tourism Northern Ireland provided 
additional funding to further enhance one of the 
Inspiring Science exhibits, AMAZE, an immersive 
digital attraction enabling visitors to experience 
technological innovations first hand. 

The increased capital grant funding was coupled 
with a strong trading performance in the SSE Arena 
through secondary spend by customers on food 
and beverage and higher sales of shared suites as 
a result of continued BEET (Best Experience Every 
Time) initiatives driving new food and beverage 
offerings to enhance the customer experience.

The Group financial statements for the financial year 
show net incoming resources before depreciation of 
£2,682,662 (2018 – net incoming resources of 
£2,396,384) with a total funds held at the end of the 
financial year of £49,126,020 (2018 - £48,727,280). 
Expenditure on charitable  activities increased to 
£7,075,992 (2018 - £6,446,468) showing a 
commitment by the Board of Trustees to deliver 
against the Charity’s objectives.

The Charity continued to support W5 during the year 
providing a subvention of £503,860 in 2019 (2018 
- £478,240).

The Charity, in line with the objective to maintain and 
develop the facility to the highest standard, continued 
to invest in the maintenance and capital expenditure 
programme. This included capital expenditure of 
£2,494,095 during the year relating to the Inspiring 
Science exhibits including Med-lab, retail shop fit out 
and entrance enhancement within the science 
centre, backstage improvements, concourse flooring, 
new lift and seating replacement within SSE Arena. 
Capital expenditure in the prior year was £1,978,867.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Investments and bank holdings reduced by £241,898 
representing a decrease in bank and cash of 
£911,001, increase in term deposits of £167,885, 
with an increase in investments totalling £501,218 
in 2019. The bank and cash reduction is reflective of 
£500,000 cash being placed with Smith & Williamson 
to invest in a diversified portfolio of assets and 
cash and the remaining cash reduction of £411,001 
relating to the matched capital investment as part of 
the Inspiring Science fund.

Trade debtors reduced by £653,144 due to cash 
received for sponsorship contracts before the 2019 
financial year end. Prepayments and accrued 
income increased by £357,608 which in the main 
is reflective of the capital grant monies due from 
Tourism Northern Ireland for the AMAZE exhibit. 
Stock increased by £24,430 as a result of a larger 
retail shop in W5 with additional floor space housing 
a Lego® zone.

Deferred income decrease relates in the main to 
higher arena ticket sales monies received in advance 
in 2018. Accruals and trade creditors increase is 
reflective of capital expenditure during the year with 
payment made after the year end.

£629,524

capital spend
in 2018-2019£2,494,095

increase in charitable spend in 2018-19

£241,898   
reduction in financial resources in 2018-2019
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The reduction in long-term creditors of £468,385 
represents a further annual payment on a 
commercial contract entered into by the Group 
to benefit future profitability and cashflows of the 
business.

INVESTMENTS
During February and March 2019 £230,694 
(46% of the £500,000 cash) has been invested 
in securities with the balance of £269,217 held in 
cash to be invested in the market after the current 
year end when the correct market opportunities 
arise. As only half of the investment funds have 
been invested for a short period of time it is 
difficult to comment on the return. The value of the 
portfolio as at the 31 March 2019 totals £501,218. 
The results for the first quarter reporting on the 
investments have been good with stock market 
conditions quite favourable. The estimated gross 
yield on securities is 3.8%. 

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE 
DONATIONS
Neither the Charity nor the Group has made any 
political contributions during the year (2018: none)

GOING CONCERN
The use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is appropriate because there are no material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt about the ability of the Group or 
Charity to continue as a going concern.

FUNDING SOURCES
The original capital expenditure to build the 
Odyssey complex in 2000 was funded in total by 
a combination of grant aid from the Millennium 
Commission (now The National Lottery Community 
Fund), Department of Communities (formally known 
as DCAL), Laganside, Sports Council for NI and the 
private sector.  DCAL continued to provide revenue 
and capital funding towards W5.  This ceased on 31 
March 2015.

The Charity has in the past and continues to fund 
the charitable activities through charges for use 
of the facilities (rents and admission charges) and 
covenanted payments received from its wholly owned 
trading subsidiaries which generate money through 
on site commercial activities, food and beverage, 
merchandising, sponsorship and car parking.

The Group and charity continue to work tirelessly 
to secure income to finance the ongoing activities. 
A Group business and strategic plan is continually 
implemented and updated, alongside annual budgets 
of income and expenditure to address the challenges 
in the current financial climate. 

 RESERVES POLICY
The original Funding Agreements with the Millennium 
Commission and the policy of the Board is that 
reserves are maintained at levels considering the 
nature of the business, the provision of funds for 
asset replacement as detailed under the Life Cycle 
Report and to help safeguard the future viability of 
the Odyssey complex. These are considered and 
reflected in the Business and Strategic Plan for 2018-
21. 

The Charity’s reserves are required to help ensure 
the continuity of its operations in the event of an 
unexpected fall in income or some other unforeseen 
event, and to ensure it is able to provide for the long 
term maintenance requirements of the buildings, and 
fund further improvements.

In assessing the level of reserves required for 
the Charity, the Charity has considered the 
guidance issued by the Charity Commission for 
Northern Ireland.  A review of the Charity’s income, 
expenditure, operational commitments, future plans 
and key risks has been carried out to establish the 
appropriate level of reserves.

Total reserves held at 31 March 2019 were 
£49,126,020 of which £12,138,544 were unrestricted 
funds (see note 27). Of this total £2,485,748 
represents the general reserves of the Charity and 
the remaining £9,652,796 has been allocated as 
designated funds. The balance of total reserves 
totalling £36,987,476 forms the Charity’s restricted 
funds. 
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UNRESTRICTED FUNDS
The unrestricted reserve funds are specified as 
follows:

 ● the general reserve fund is to support the 
financial viability of the Group and enable it 
to continue its work in line with its charitable 
objectives. It is the aim of the Group to carry a 
general reserve fund at the level of six months 
charitable expenditure which would equate to 
£3,537,996. The level in this fund at 31 March 
2019 was £2,485,748 which represents 4.22 
months of charitable expenditure and it is the 
strategic aim of the Group to build this level of 
reserves.  

DESIGNATED FUNDS
 ● the designated fund of £9,652,796 has been 

established to create a reserve necessary 
to fund the W5 operating deficit, a rolling 
programme for the upgrade of W5 exhibits, 
capital expenditure requirements as identified in 
the lifecycle report for the building and internal 
building fabric, operational support requirements 
for the Arena including information technology 
renewal. 

 – £1,235,200 W5 exhibit renewal under 
Inspiring Science, food and beverage 
refurbishment and the creation of a quiet 
space for visitors to unwind and relax 
expected to be incurred within the next two 
years

 – £2,394,350 Arena support and development 
expected to be incurred within the next seven 
years 

 – £402,354 W5 operating deficit expected to be 
incurred within the next 12 months. 

 – £5,620,892 capital development as per 
Lifecycle Report and fit out of the additional 
space acquired for W5 in 2018 with spend 
expected within the next two years.

The restricted reserve funds include Construction 
Fund, Friendship Four, Continental Cup Fund, W5 
Fund and Estate Management. 

RESTRICTED FUNDS
 ● Construction Fund was £36,987,476 at 31 March 

2019 representing money received from the 
funders relating to the initial capital cost from 
construction of the project less depreciation.

 ● Friendship Four Fund represents money 
received from funders less expenditure incurred 
to enable the hosting of the Friendship Four 
amateur ice hockey tournament for 2018-19.

 ● Continental Cup Fund represents money 
received from International Ice Hockey 
Federation less expenditure incurred to host the 
Continental Cup final.

 ● W5 fund represents the income and expenditure 
for W5, the wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Charity, which also has charitable status.

 ● Estate Management fund is for the purpose of 
providing services for the entire Odyssey site, 
which are recharged to the tenants. These 
services include security, maintenance, cleaning, 
electricity and insurance.

 
The reserves policy is monitored on a regular basis 
to ensure compliance with this policy and reviewed 
annually. 

Restricted funds (can only be spent as donor directs)

£36,987,476 

£9,652,796    
Designated funds 
(Capital and Arena Redevelopment and W5 Subvention)
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INVESTMENT POLICY
The investment policy provides a framework for 
making investment decisions to aid the Trustees 
in managing the Group resources effectively and 
demonstrate good governance. The Group has 
adopted an investment policy which supports the 
reserves policy. The purpose of the investment 
policy is to ensure that when investing charitable 
funds, the Group achieves an appropriate balance 
for the Charity between the two objectives of: 

a) providing an income to effectively support the 
activities of the Group in line with its charitable 
objectives in the short term; and 

b) maintaining and enhancing the value of the 
invested funds, so as to enable the Group 
effectively to carry out its purposes in the longer 
term.

The investment policy is reviewed annually to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the needs of the 
Group.
The Charity receives income from covenanted 
payments from its trading subsidiaries, grants and 
other sources. Financial budgets are set to cover 
revenue and capital expenditure and any surplus is 
used to build the free reserves target.

During the year the Charity invested funds both 
within securities and short-term deposits. The 
investment strategy included securities to increase 
the return on Charity funds as the return on 
deposits continues to be depressed. The Charity 

holds a diversified portfolio of securities managed 
by Smith & Williamson Investment Management 
LLP. The investment risk tolerance is agreed as 
medium. The asset base is to be diversified in 
order to protect the Charity’s investments from 
sudden variations in the market. Capital volatility 
is accepted on the basis of capital value being 
held in the long term. The income yield agreed 
with the investment manager and built into the 
financial budgeting process is not less than 3%. 
The Charity will not place any direct investment 
into armaments. The investment fund manager 
uses EIRIS – an independent tool which screens 
investments for a positive environmental, social and 
governance rating known as a sustainability rating. 
The investments will only involve companies with 
a “C” classification or better for sustainability. The 
performance of the funds is bench marked against 
the MSCI WMA Balanced Index and other relevant 
indices.

The Charity's investments include interest 
bearing term deposits having no risk to the capital 
deposited. In 2018/19 interest rates continued to be 
poor with rates ranging from - 0.3% to 0.75% . 

 
Short term deposits and securities held in 2019

£5,769,441

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

£36,987,476 

45



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

RELATED PARTIES 

The Charity has a number of subsidiary undertakings 
which it considers to be related parties. The 
subsidiary undertakings and their principal activities 
are as follows:

 ● OML Belfast Limited - Principal activities 
are to operate the SSE Arena Belfast, which 
attracts a wide range of artists and events to 
Northern Ireland, manage the Belfast Giants, 
manage the Odyssey car park with 1,500 
spaces and have responsibility for the estate 
management services of the Odyssey complex, 
which comprises the W5 Science and Discovery 
Centre, SSE Arena Belfast, Odyssey Pavilion 
and Odyssey car park.

 ● Odyssey Property Company - Principal 
activities are the ownership and rental of the 
Odyssey Pavilion and rental of this property. 
An element of this asset is sub-leased to 
whowhatwherewhenwhy (W5), which is also a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Charity. 

 
 ● Whowhatwherewhenwhy (W5) Aim is to 

educate the public and to promote awareness, 
appreciation and understanding of art, history, 
science, the culture and way of life of people, 
the migration and settlement of people and, in 
particular, the heritage of Northern Ireland. 

. 

Whowhatwherewhenwhyonline Limited - Principal 
activity is the operation of a retail shop, coffee shop 
and corporate sponsorship activities at the W5 
science and discovery centre in Belfast.

 ● Odyssey Construction Company Limited -  
A dormant subsidiary company, which was 
established during the construction of the 
Odyssey complex; and 

 ● Silverstream Enterprises Limited - Is a 
dormant subsidiary company.

The subsidiaries have made covenanted payments 
transferring (subject to maintenance of appropriate 
reserves) all or substantially all of their taxable profits 
to the Charity to enable it to deliver its charitable 
objectives. W5 Online Limited makes a covenanted 
payment of its taxable profits to W5. Further details 
of these subsidiaries are disclosed in note 16 of 
these financial statements.

During 2018-19 The Odyssey Trust Company 
Trustees from time to time attended events held in 
W5 and/or the SSE Arena, Belfast. The private 
benefits to unremunerated Trustees were incidental 
to and a by-product of the delivery of the benefits 
provided to the Charity’s beneficiaries. 

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113
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RISK POLICY
The Board of Trustees has implemented systems of 
internal control, which are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. The systems include: 

 ● a strategic plan and an annual budget approved 
by the Board; 

 ● regular consideration by the Board of financial 
results, variance from budgets and non-financial 
performance indicators; 

 ● delegation of authority and segregation of duties;  

 ● identification and management of risks. 

The Board of Trustees has introduced a formal risk 
management process to assess business risks and 
implement risk management strategies. This involves 
identifying the types of risks the Group and Charity 
faces, prioritising them in terms of potential impact 
and likelihood of occurrence, and identifying means 
of mitigating the risks. As part of this process, the 
Trustees have reviewed the adequacy of the Group 
and Charity’s current internal controls.

The Group and Charity has an Internal Audit service 
provided by Ernst & Young LLP, which operates to 
standards defined by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors. They submit regular reports, which include 
their independent opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Charity’s system of internal 
control together with recommendations for 
improvement.

The Trustees’ review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal financial control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the Executive Team 
within the Group and Charity who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework, and comments made by the 
external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports.

In addition, the Trustees have considered the 
guidance for Directors of public listed companies 
contained within the Combined Code. They believe 
that although this is not mandatory for the Charity 
and they have not adopted the Code, it should, as a 
public interest body, consider these guidelines as 
best practice. Accordingly they have set policies on 
internal controls which cover the following:

 ● consideration of the type of risks the Group and 
Charity faces; 

 ● the level of risks which they regard as 
acceptable; 

 ● the likelihood of the risks concerned 
materialising; 

 ● the Group and Charity’s ability to reduce the 
incidence and impact on the business of risks 
that do materialise; 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 ● the costs of operating particular controls relative 
to the benefit obtainable; 

 ● the responsibility of management to implement 
the Trustees’ policies and identify and evaluate 
risks for their consideration; 

 ● communication of employees' responsibility for 
internal control as part of their accountability for 
achieving objectives; 

 ● embedding the control system in the Group and 
Charity’s operations so that it becomes part of 
the culture of the Charity; 

 ● systems to respond quickly to evolving risks 
arising from factors within the Group and Charity 
and to changes in the external environment; 

 ● procedures for reporting failings immediately to 
appropriate management and the Trustees 
together with details of corrective action being 
undertaken.
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SAFEGUARDING
Safeguarding remains central to the delivery of 
services across the Group.  Our policy provides a 
framework to ensure that children, young people 
and adults at risk are protected from harm while they 
visit the Group premises.  This is through careful 
selection and recruitment to ensure appropriate 
and relevant supervision is provided to staff.  Staff 
and Trustees are trained on ‘Safeguarding Children 
and Young People’ policy and procedures on 
joining the Charity which is refreshed on a three-
year cycle, utilising expert trainers from NSPCC.  
Enhanced training is provided to the Designated 
Officers across the site, currently 17, who provide 
support to staff and ensure staff are clear about the 
Charity’s expectations around behaviours in relation 
to safeguarding and the consequence of breaching 
these rules. The policy is reviewed every three years.

FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Group and Charity’s principal financial 
instruments comprise cash, bank deposits, trade 
debtors and creditors, Group indebtedness and 
certain other debtors and accruals. The main risks 
and policies associated with these financial assets 
and liabilities are set out as follows:

Liquidity risk

The Group and Charity operate with no borrowings. 
The Trustees do not believe that the Charity has 
significant exposures arising from liquidity risks.

Investments in securities and bank 
term deposits

The Group and Charity's policy is to invest in 
securities with a medium risk to capital invested. 
The exposure to risk is mitigated by a diversified 
securities portfolio. Bank deposits are also held with 
major banking institutions with a very low risk to 
capital invested.

Credit risk

The largest element of the Group and Charity’s 
income is collected in cash or cash equivalents. 
Where there is credit risk the Group and Charity 
operate a well-defined credit control system to 
ensure exposure to bad debts is minimised.

Business performance risk

Business performance risk is the risk that the Group 
and Charity may not perform as expected either due 
to internal factors or due to competitive pressures 
in the markets in which it operates. This risk is 
managed through a number of measures: ensuring 
the appropriate management team is in place, 
budget and business planning, monthly reporting 
and variance analysis, financial controls and market 
analysis.

Value

The Executive Team includes a Chief Value Officer 
whose responsibility is to identify value efficiencies 
which are built into the budget planning process. 
Meetings have been held site wide with managers 
and accountants to provide ongoing support to these 
initiatives. This includes operational changes, 
centralising functions and challenging the cost base 
for services and goods provided internally and 
externally.
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Business continuity risk

The Group and Charity have detailed business 
continuity plans in place should a significant unforeseen 
event occur.

A Crisis Management Policy and plan is reviewed and 
updated frequently. The Plan is based on a matrix 
system which determines the required escalation of any 
incident. A crisis management team aided by a crisis 
support team provide strategic and operational control 
of any incident that escalates to crisis level.

With the assistance of risk and resilience consultants, 
scenario based exercises are held annually for staff 
training and to confirm the relevance of the current plan.

General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR)

In preparation for the introduction of GDPR legislation in 
May 2018, a specialist advisor was appointed to review 
potential areas of risk across the Group and identify 
actions to address any recommendations. The process 
included a programme of staff training and awareness 
across all areas of the business, and the establishment 
of a cross-departmental GDPR working group has 
provided a focal point for the review of GDPR-related 
issues. The group has overseen the development 
and implementation of appropriate policies, with 
mechanisms in place for the investigation of potential 
breaches and regular reporting at senior management 
and Board level. All staff are required to attend regular 
GDPR and IT security training sessions, with GDPR 
elements included within new staff inductions, to ensure 
that priority continues to be given to the awareness 
of GDPR legislation and identification and analysis of 
associated risks. 

Health and Safety risk

The Charity is committed to ensuring a safe working 
environment. Risks are managed by the Group and 
Charity through the strong promotion of a health and 
safety culture and well defined health and safety 
policies.

The Charity is committed to a programme of continual 
improvement in Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 
management and performance to all employees, 
contractors/sub-contractors, visitors and anyone else 
who might be exposed to the company’s activities. 

The Charity has established, implemented and 
maintained an OH&S policy that includes a commitment 
to provide safe and healthy working conditions for the 
prevention of work-related injury and/or ill health and is 
appropriate to the purpose, size and context of the 
organisation and to the specific nature of its OH&S risks 
and OH&S opportunities.

The Charity accepts the responsibilities under the 
relevant prevailing OH&S legislation along with the 
associated regulations, agreed codes of practice and 
guidance notes. We achieve this objective through a risk 
assessment approach to safety management to ensure 
that safe systems at work, information, instruction and 
training, effective supervision and monitoring of safety 
standards are appropriate.

The Charity has devised procedures and audits and in 
turn meets with managers and employees to review 
general standards and identify any areas for 
improvement to ensure targets are maintained for the 
reduction and prevention of accidents, work related ill 
health and accident related loss of time and resources.

The Health and Safety policy ensures that a number of 
staff are paediatric first aid trained as the majority of 
visitors are children. In addition risk assessments take 
account of children in reference to hazards. 

During the year a Health, Safety and Environmental Co-
ordinator was appointed in compliance with legislation 
and best practice. 

Management development

Senior management is committed to ensuring the 
long-term sustainability of the Group and Charity. This is 
achieved by retaining and attracting high quality 
personnel.
 
Financial and business control

Robust financial and business controls are necessary to 
ensure the reliability of financial and other information 
on which the Group and Charity rely for day-to-day 
operations, external reporting and for long-term 
planning. Financial and business control is achieved 
through a combination of qualified and experienced 
financial personnel, budgeting and monitoring cash flow/
forecasting, clearly defined approval limits and internal 
control audits to independently assess the adequacy of 
these systems.

Social, ethical and environmental risk

Following from its charitable objectives the activities of 
the Group and Charity seek to bring social benefits to 
the public in Northern Ireland and at large. The Group 
and Charity continue to monitor the provision of these 
benefits and there are not considered to be any major 
risks to achieving these objectives.
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Plans for future periods
The financial year ended 31 March 2019 saw 
the exciting renaissance of W5. The three-year 
investment programme, funded by Inspiring Science, 
will continue to renew the exhibition areas to 
maintain the science centre at the highest standard 
and update it with the latest developments within the 
market.

The first phase of a three-year investment 
programme has been completed, including the 
opening of a new and extended W5 shop and café 
in May 2018, and the launch of MED-Lab, the first of 
eight exciting new exhibition areas, in January 2019. 
This programme of renewal, which includes both 
capital works and the development of a new public 
engagement strategy and programming, will continue 
until March 2021 and will enable W5 to extend its 
reach and impact with audiences across Northern 
Ireland and beyond.  It includes a new immersive, 
technology experience, AMAZE, launched in 
June 2019 which will be followed by a complete 
refurbishment of W5’s exhibition galleries by June 
2020, refurbishment of the science theatre, teaching 
spaces, demonstration areas and outreach vehicles.  
 
Detailed Business and Strategic Plans have been 
prepared for the Group and Charity for 2019/21 in 
overview: 

 ● The Charity continues to generate funds to 
sustain its main charitable objectives through its 
trading subsidiaries. 

 ● W5 continues to operate the science and 
discovery centre, attracting visitor numbers of in 
excess of 270,000 (plus 30,000 through outreach 
programmes), to contribute to the advancement 
of scientific knowledge and education. The 
Charity has built in full subvention for W5 into its 
short and medium term financial budgets. 

 ● Capital investment in W5 of £4.5m to refurbish 
exhibit floors with £3m of this funding from the 
Inspiring Science Fund. 

 ● The SSE Arena to continue to generate income 
(in OML Belfast) to attract audiences of in excess 
of 550,000 through a broad programme of music, 
sport and family shows to be reinvested in the 
charitable activities of the Charity. 

 ● Planned capital spend on the SSE Arena to 
improve the building and facilities in order to 
maintain the facilities to a high standard and to 
keep it up to date with the latest developments in 
the market. 

 ● Trading subsidiary budgets set and new 
activities sought to provide funds for the Charity 
for reinvestment in the charitable activities of the 
Group.

Reference and
Administrative 
Details
The Trustees who served during the year and up to 
the date of approving these financial statements are 
as listed on page 84. Other administrative details are 
included on page 84.

EXEMPTIONS FROM 
DISCLOSURE 

Medium companies’ exemption

This report has been prepared in accordance with 
the special provisions relating to medium companies 
within Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006. 

FUNDS HELD AS A 
CUSTODIAN TRUSTEE ON 
BEHALF OF OTHERS 
There are no funds held as custodian Trustee on 
behalf of others. 

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Trustees (who are also Directors of The 
Odyssey Trust Company Limited for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements including 
the Strategic Report in accordance with applicable 
law and regulation.
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Trustees have prepared the financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
Under company law the Trustees must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of the 
affairs of the charitable company and the Group 
and of the incoming resources and application of 
resources, including the income and expenditure, 
of the charitable group for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the Trustees are required 
to:

 ● select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently; 

 ● observe the methods and principles in the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: 

Accounting and Reporting by Charities (2015);
 ● make judgments and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent;  

 ● state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and 

 ● prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the charitable company will 
continue in business. 

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the charitable company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charitable company and the 
Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the charitable company's website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE 
OF INFORMATION TO 
AUDITORS
So far as each of the Directors/Trustees in office at 
the date of approval of these financial statements is 
aware:

 ● there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Group and Charitable company’s auditors 
are unaware; and 

 ● they have taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as Directors/Trustees in order to 
make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Group and 
Charitable company’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have 
indicated their willingness to continue in office, and 
a resolution concerning their reappointment will be 
proposed at the next Board meeting.

By order of the Board

J A Gillen
Company secretary
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Independent
auditors’  

report to the 
members of

The Odyssey 
Trust Company 

Limited 

Report on the audit 
of the financial 
statements
OPINION

In our opinion, The Odyssey Trust Company 
Limited’s group financial statements and parent 
charitable company financial statements (the 
“financial statements”): 

 ● give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent charitable company’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2019  and of the group’s 
and parent charitable company’s incoming 
resources and application of resources, including 
its income and expenditure and cash flows for 
the year then ended; 

 ● have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland”, and applicable law); and 

 ● have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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We have audited the financial statements, included 
within the Annual Report and financial statements 
(the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the group 
and parent charitable company balance sheets as 
at 31 March 2019; the group statement of financial 
activities, the group statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended; the accounting policies; and the 
notes to the financial statements.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We remained independent of the charitable company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING 
CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you when: 

 ● the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

 ● the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the group’s 
and parent charitable company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions 
can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee 
as to the group’s and parent charitable company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

REPORTING ON OTHER 
INFORMATION 

The other information comprises all of the 
information in the Annual report other than the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 
The Trustees are responsible for the other 
information. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this 
report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are 
required to perform procedures to conclude whether 
there is a material misstatement of the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
based on these responsibilities.

Based on the responsibilities described above and 
our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs 
(UK) require us also to report certain opinions and 
matters as described below.
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE 
TRUSTEES

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit the information given in the 
Annual Report of the Trustees, including the 
Strategic report, for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements and the Annual Report of the 
Trustees have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the group and parent charitable 
company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we are required to report if we 
have identified any material misstatements in the 
Strategic report and the Annual Report of the 
Trustees. We have nothing to report in this respect.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE 
AUDIT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
TRUSTEES FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities in respect of the financial statements 
set out on page 51, the Trustees are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable framework and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
The Trustees are also responsible for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees 
are responsible for assessing the group’s and parent 
charitable company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to 
liquidate the group and parent charitable company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditors’ report.

USE OF THIS REPORT

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the charity’s members as a 
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We 
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by 
our prior consent in writing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING

COMPANIES ACT 2006 EXCEPTION 
REPORTING

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

 ● we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or 

 ● adequate accounting records have not been 
kept by the parent charitable company or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

 ● certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or 

 ● the parent charitable company financial 
statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.

Emma Murray (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Belfast
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Notes Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Restricted Funds 
2018 £

Unrestricted Funds 
2018 £

Total
2018 £

Incoming resources

Incoming resources from donations:

Voluntary income 5 5,927 - 5,927 6,031 - 6,031

Incoming resources from generated 
funds:
Activities for generating funds 6 1,662,212 10,633,058 12,295,270 1,486,922 11,715,512 13,202,434

Investment income 103 26,779 26,882 112 12,471 12,583

1,668,242 10,659,837 12,328,079 1,493,065 11,727,983 13,221,048

Incoming resources from charitable 
activities  

7 3,004,884 2,130,319 5,135,203 1,663,442 1,819,428 3,482,870

Total incoming resources 4,673,126 12,790,156 17,463,282 3,156,507 13,547,411 16,703,918

Resources expended 

Expenditure on generating funds:

Expenditure on trading activities 8 1,757,898 8,205,668 9,963,566 1,924,191 8,283,140 10,207,331

Investment management costs 8 - 26,202 26,202 - 26,672 26,672

1,757,898 8,231,870 9,989,768 1,924,191 8,309,812 10,234,003

Expenditure on charitable activities 8 2,763,301 4,312,691 7,075,992 1,477,862 4,968,606 6,446,468

Total resources expended 4,521,199 12,544,561 17,065,760 3,402,053 13,278,418 16,680,471

Net gains/(losses) on investments - 1,218 1,218 - - -
Net incoming/outgoing resources before 
transfers of goodwill 

151,927 246,813 398,740 (245,546) 268,993 23,447

Transfers 27 (1,185,763) 1,185,763 - (896,702) 896,702 -

Net movement in funds (1,033,836) 1,432,576 398,740 (1,142,248) 1,165,695 23,447

Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward 27 38,021,312 10,705,968 48,727,280 39,163,560 9,540,273 48,703,833

Total funds carried forward 27 36,987,476 12,138,544 49,126,020 38,021,312 10,705,986 48,727,280

Group statement of financial activities for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Notes 2019 £ 2018 £

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 14 - -

Tangible assets 15 44,751,474 44,546,223

44,751,474 44,546,223

Current assets
Stocks 17 223,786 199,356

Debtors: Amounts falling due after one year 18 19,693 22,155

Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year 18 1,557,852 1,719,782

Investments 19 5,769,441 5,100,338

Cash at bank and in hand 20 6,441,367 7,352,368

14,012,139 14,393,999

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 21 (7,632,204) (7,739,168)

Net current assets 6,379,935 6,654,831

Total assets less current liabilities 51,131,409 51,201,054

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 (2,005,389) (2,473,774)

Net assets 49,126,020 48,727,280                        

Funds

Unrestricted funds:
General reserve 27 2,485,748 1,376,088

Designated funds 27 9,652,796 9,329,880

Restricted funds:

Construction fund 27 36,987,476 38,021,312

Total funds 27 49,126,020 48,727,280

Group balance sheet as at 31 March 2019
The notes on pages 60 to 83 are an integral part of 
these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 56 to 83 were 
authorised for issue by the board of Trustees/
Directors and were signed on its behalf by: 

E Porter     
Director 

C Byrnes     
Director 

16 September 2019

57



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113

Notes 2019 £ 2018 £

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 15 26,613,887 27,196,328

Investments 16 1,958,957 1,958,957

28,572,844 29,155,285

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after one year 18 19,693 22,155

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 18 3,292,724 4,175,617

Investments 19 2,001,218 1,999,948

Cash at bank and in hand 20 906,178 34,976

6,219,813 6,232,696

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 21 (2,576,200) (2,781,137)

Net current liabilities 3,463,613 3,451,559

Total assets less current liabilities 32,216,457 32,606,844

Net assets 32,216,457 32,606,844

Funds

Unrestricted funds:
General reserve 27 15,071,599 15,336,669

Designated funds 27 4,637,554 3,729,036

Restricted funds:

Construction fund 27 12,507,304 13,541,139

Total funds 27 32,216,457 32,606,844

Charity balance sheet as at 31 March 2019
The amount of the loss in the financial statements 
of the charitable company was £390,387 (2018: 
£476,896).

The notes on pages 60 to 83 are an integral part of 
these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 56 to 83 were 
authorised for issue by the board of Trustees/
Directors and were signed on its behalf by: 

E Porter     
Director 

C Byrnes     
Director 

16 September 2019

58



2019 £ 2018 £

Cash flows from operating activities  

Net incoming resources for the year 398,740 23,447

Adjustments for:

Loss on sale of fixed assets 4,922 4,163

Depreciation charge 2,283,922 2,372,937

Movement in debtors 164,392 (292,834)

Movement in creditors (575,349) 1,153,025

Movement in stock (24,430) 7,404

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 2,252,197 3,268,142

Cash flows from investment activities  

Payments to acquire of tangible assets (2,494,095) (1,978,865)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,494,095) (1,978,865)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Net movement in investments (669,103) 145,052

Net cash used in/generated from financing activities (669,103) 145,052

Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents (911,001) 1,434,329 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,352,368 5,918,039

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,441,367 7,352,368

Change in cash and bank balances for the year (911,011) 1,434,329

Group statement of cash flows for the
year ended 31 March 2019

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2019
1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited (the “charity”) 
is a private company limited by guarantee and 
incorporated in Northern Ireland. The Registered 
Office is 2 Queen’s Quay, Belfast, BT3 9QQ. The 
members of the charity are the Directors named on 
page 84. In the event of the charity being wound up, 
the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to 
£10 per member of the charity.

The principal activity of the group is to hold, manage, 
safeguard and develop the investment in the 
Odyssey Project for the benefit of all the people of 
Northern Ireland.  

2 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Group and individual financial statements of 
The Odyssey Trust Company Limited have been 
prepared in compliance with United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102, ‘‘Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102) effective 1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP 
(FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102), the Charities Act (Northern Ireland) 2008(13) 
and the Companies Act 2006.

3 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These Group and Charity financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with the Charities Act (Northern Ireland) 
2008(13), the Companies Act 2006, the Financial 
reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102) and relevant sections of the 
Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities (Revised 2015)”, 
applicable to charities preparing their financial 
statements in accordance with the FRS 102.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited meets the 
definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. 
Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at 
historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the Group and Charity 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling 
(£) with all values rounded to the nearest £1 except 
where otherwise indicated.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption 
in section 408 of the Companies Act from presenting 
its individual profit and loss account.

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The group consolidated financial statements include 
the financial statements of the Charitable Company 
and all of its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 
March 2019.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the group. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. Where the group owns less than 
50% of the voting powers of an entity but controls the 
entity by virtue of an agreement with other investors 
which give it control of the financial and operating 
policies of the entity it accounts for that entity as a 
subsidiary.
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Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies 
to the group, adjustments are made to those 
subsidiary financial statements to apply the group’s 
accounting policies when preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

Any subsidiary undertakings or associates sold 
or acquired during the year are included up to, or 
from, the dates of change of control or change of 
significant influence respectively.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income 
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
Adjustments are made to eliminate the surplus/deficit 
arising on transactions with associates to the extent 
of the group’s interest in the entity.

3.3 GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the 
excess of the fair value of the consideration given 
over the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions is 
capitalised as an intangible asset and is written back 
to the Statement of Financial Activities in accordance 
with the depreciation policies of the assets which 
when fair valued resulted in the negative goodwill. 

3.4 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Freehold and long leasehold buildings are stated at 
cost. Other tangible fixed assets are stated at their 
purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses 
of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost 
of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual 
values, on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful economic lives of the assets concerned. The 
principal annual rates used are as follows:

Land        –   nil
Long leasehold buildings    –   2% of cost
Plant and machinery      –   5% - 25% of cost
Fixtures and fittings      –   5% - 25% of cost
Exhibits        –   25% of cost
Motor Vehicles       –   25% of cost
Car parks       –   12.5% - 25% of cost

No depreciation is charged until the asset is brought 
into use. Land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113
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3.5 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Fixed asset investments are stated at historical cost 
less impairment.

3.6 CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

Investments in listed company shares, which have 
been classified as current asset investments, are 
remeasured to market value at each balance sheet 
date. Gains and losses on remeasurement are 
recognised in profit or loss for the period.

3.7 STOCKS

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and estimated 
net realisable value. Stocks are recognized as an 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognized.

At the end of each reporting period stocks are 
assessed for impairment. If an item of stock is 
impaired, the identified stock is reduced to its 
selling price less costs to complete and sell and an 
impairment charge is recognized in the statement 
of financial activities. Where a reversal of the 
impairment is recognized the impairment charge is 
reversed, up to the original impairment loss, and is 
recognized as a credit in the statement of financial 
activities.

3.8 CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand 
and deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of 3 months or less. Current asset investments 
are deposits held with banks with maturities of 12 
months or less and deposits which is not readily 
convertible into cash.

3.9 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised when it is 
reasonable to expect that the grants will be received 
and that all related conditions will be met, usually on 
submission of a valid claim for payment.

Government grants in respect of capital expenditure 
are credited to a deferred income account and are 
released to profit over the expected useful lives of 
the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

Grants of a revenue nature are credited to income so 
as to match them with the expenditure to which they 
relate.

3.10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 
12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.

(i) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other 
debtors and cash and bank balances are initially 
recognised at transaction price, unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, 
where the transaction is measured at present value 
of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of 
interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

At the end of each reporting period financial 
assets measured at amortised cost are assessed 
for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset 
is impaired the impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of financial activities. 

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising 
from an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal 
is such that the current carrying amount does not 
exceed what the carrying amount would have been 
had the impairment not previously been recognised. 
The impairment reversal is recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.
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Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are 
transferred to another party or (c) despite having 
retained some significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, control of the asset has been transferred 
to another party who has the practical ability to 
unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party 
without imposing additional restrictions.

(ii) Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other 
payables are initially recognised at transaction price, 
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction, where the debt instrument is measured 
at the present value of the future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been received in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables 
are classified into amounts falling due within one 
year if payment is due within one year or less. If not, 
they are presented as amounts falling due after one 
year. 

Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction 
price and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.11 LEASING COMMITMENTS

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
in the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.12 FUND ACCOUNTING

The organisation has various types of funds for 
which it is responsible and which require separate 
disclosure. A definition of the various types of funds 
is as follows:

Restricted funds

Restricted funds are to be used for specified 
purposes as laid down by each donor. Expenditure 
which meets these criteria is identified to the 
fund, together with a fair allocation of overheads 
and support costs. The aim and use of each 
restricted fund is set out in the notes to the financial 
statements.

Unrestricted funds

General funds are unrestricted funds received 
or generated and which are expendable at the 
discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the 
objectives of the Charity and which have not been 
designated for other purposes. Designated funds 

comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside 
by the Directors for particular purposes. The aim and 
use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to 
the financial statements.

3.13 INCOMING RESOURCES

Voluntary income relates to donated consumables 
received by W5 which were valued at market value.  
The total income equivalent of the gift has been 
recognised within incoming resources as a gift in 
kind and the equivalent charge has been included 
within office expenses.

Activities for generating funds relates to trading 
incomes of the subsidiary companies of the group 
who gift aid all taxable profits to the Charity through 
a covenanted payment and recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

Investment income relates to bank interest received 
on cash deposits held by the group.

Income from charitable activities includes income 
received from SSE Arena rental.  Charitable income 
from W5 relates substantially to admissions, 
education and funded programmes.

Trading income represents the invoiced value of 
goods supplied during the year excluding value 
added tax. Revenue is recognised upon provision of 
the service to the customer.
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3.14 RESOURCES EXPENDED

Resources expended are accounted for on an 
accruals basis and are included in the Statement of 
Financial Activities for the period to which they relate.

Expenditure on generating funds are those costs 
included in commercial trading activities of the 
subsidiary that raise funds.
Charitable activities include expenditure associated 
with the projects undertaken by the Charity in the 
furtherance of its charitable objectives, and include 
both direct costs and support costs relating to these 
activities.

Governance costs include those incurred in 
the governance of the Charity and are primarily 
associated with constitutional, statutory and strategic 
matters.

Support costs include staff costs and certain central 
overheads. These have been allocated between 
these categories on a basis that is consistent with 
the use of the resource, such as time allocation, floor 
space or percentage usage.

3.15 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The company provides a range of benefits to 
employees, including paid holiday arrangements and 
defined contribution pension plans. 

i. Short term benefits 

Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other 
similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the service is 
received.

ii. Defined contribution pension plans 

The company operates a defined contribution plan 
for its employees. A defined contribution plan is 
a pension plan under which the company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the 
contributions have been paid the company has 
no further payment obligations. The contributions 
are recognised as an expense when they are due. 
Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the 
balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held 
separately from the company in independently 
administered funds. 

3.16 RECOGNITION OF LIABILITIES

Liabilities are recognised as soon as there is a legal 
or constructive obligation committing the Charity to 
pay out resources.

4 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgements in applying the Group and 
charitable company’s accounting policies

There are no critical judgements in applying the 
Group and charitable company’s policies.

Key management estimates and assumptions

There are no key accounting estimates and 
assumptions in applying the Group and charitable 
company’s accounting policies.
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Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Restricted
Funds 2018 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2018 £

Total
2018 £

Gifts in kind:

Donated services 5,927 - 5,927      6,031 - 6,031

5 VOLUNTARY INCOME

All voluntary income relates to W5.

W5 received donated consumables valued at £5,927 (2018: £6,031) being the market value. The total income equivalent of the gift has been recognised within incoming 
resources as a gift in kind and the equivalent charge has been included within resources expended as office expenses.

Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Restricted Funds 
2018 £

Unrestricted Funds 
2018 £

Total
2018 £

Odyssey Ice Academy - 60,716 60,716 - 34,550 34,550

World Championship - - - 21,083 - 21,083

Sport NI/Exchequer Funding 30,000 - 30,000 35,000 - 35,000

Friendship four / Continental Cup 220,883 - 220,883 140,502 - 140,502

Arena - 9,286,580 9,286,580 - 10,356,874 10,356,874

W5 857,252 - 857,252 662,653 - 662,653

Estates income 554,077 1,285,762 1,839,839 627,684 1,324,088 1,951,772

6 ACTIVITIES FOR GENERATING FUNDS

The above reflect trading incomes of the subsidiary companies of the group which gift aid up all taxable profits to the Charity. 
W5 Online Ltd gift aids all of its taxable profits to W5.
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Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Restricted Funds 
2018 £

Unrestricted Funds 
2018 £

Total Funds
2018 £

Arena - 2,130,319 2,130,319 - 1,819,428 1,819,428

W5 3,004,884 - 3,004,884 1,663,442 - 1,663,442

3,004,884 2,130,319 5,135,203 1,663,442 1,819,428 3,482,870

7 INCOMING RESOURCES FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

The above reflects the charitable income. The Arena charitable income relates to rental income. The W5 charitable income substantially relates to admissions, education 
and funded projects.
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8 RESOURCES EXPENDED

Trading
activities

£

Investment
management

costs £

Charitable 
activities

£
Governance

£
Total 2019

£

Trading
activities

£

Investment
management

costs £

Charitable
activities

£
Governance

£
Total 2018

£
Costs directly allocated to activities 

Cost of sales 1,554,700 86,198 - 1,640,898 1,444,102 - 86,359 - 1,530,461

Employee costs 3,262,938 26,202 1,426,401 55,617 4,771,158 3,253,496 26,672 1,354,310 56,616 4,691,094

Marketing 64,292 - 223,484 - 287,776 79,147 - 197,075 - 276,222

Arena event costs 2,143,152 - 2,014,810 - 4,157,962 1,974,839 - 1,819,195 - 3,794,034

Legal and consultancy (8,191) - 17,605 205,265 214,679 54,177 - 17,338 73,124 144,639

Odyssey Ice Academy - - 38,974 - 38,974 - - 21,832 - 21,832

Establishment costs 2,318,367 - 724,262 516 3,043,145 2,749,032 - 584,622 550 3,334,204

Training 12,058 - 3,980 - 16,038 3,295 - 12,727 - 16,022

Repairs and maintenance 25,134 - 169 - 25,303 45,512 - 1,750 - 47,262

Travel and subsistence 33,209 - 718 - 33,927 21,385 - 269 - 21,654

Miscellaneous 20,665 - 18,048 - 38,713 42,220 - 4,019 - 46,239

Office expenses (W5) 19,133 - 196,144 - 215,277 16,419 - 102,199 - 118,618

Depreciation (W5) 361 - 200,020 - 200,381 434 - 314,517 - 314,951

Support costs allocated to activities 

Office expenses 82,053 - 55,843 22,282 160,178 103,411 - 62,439 13,096 178,946

Depreciation 389,850 - 1,693,676 - 2,083,526 389,850 - 1,668,136 - 2,057,986

Bank charges and interest payable 7,351 - 14,618 - 21,969 7,256 - 12,984 - 20,240

Employee costs 38,494 - 18,747 58,615 115,856 22,756 - 14,080 29,231 66,067

Total resources expended 9,963,566 26,202 6,733,697 342,295 17,065,760 10,207,331 26,672 6,273,851 172,617 16,680,471
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2019
£

2018
£

Depreciation 2,283,922 2,372,937

Auditors remuneration      - audit 51,850 43,160

                                        - other services 21,329 30,660

Staff costs (note 11) 4,887,012 4,757,161

Operating leases - office equipment 13,975 16,832

Operating lease rentals - buildings 17,605 17,338

Loss on the sale of tangible fixed assets 4,922 4,165

Impairment of inventory (880) (2,449)

Impairment of trade debtors 36,850 36,850

Stock recognised as an expense 2,488,292 2,337,233

9 NET INCOMING/(OUTGOING) RESOURCES

Net incoming/ (outgoing) resources is stated after charging:

10 TRUSTEES’/DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

No remuneration was paid to the Trustees/Directors during the year.
Expenses reimbursed to Trustees/Directors for their travel costs amounted to £718 (2018: £269).

Group 2019
£

2018
£

Wages and salaries 4,138,177 4,001,349

Social security costs 366,263 367,085

Other pension costs 382,572 388,727

4,887,012 4,757,161

11 STAFF COSTS

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Group 2019
Number

2018
Number

Monthly paid 155 143

The average monthly number of employees (including directors/Trustees) during the year was made up as follows:

Group 2019
Number

2018
Number

Giants 34 33

Arena 36 34

W5 58 50

Estates 7 7

Administration 20 19

155 143

Group 2019
Number

2018
Number

£60,001 - £70,000 2 4

£70,001 - £80,000 1 1

£80,001 - £90,000 - 1

£90,001 - £100,000 1 -

£100,001 - £110,000 - -

£110,001 - £120,000 - -

£120,001 - £130,000 - -

£130,000 - £140,000 - 1

£140,000 - £150,000 1 1

Pension contributions of £100,399 (2018 - £168,230) were paid to personal pension plans by the Group in respect of 
employees whose remuneration amounted to over £60,000 in the year.
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KEY MANAGEMENT 

The group consider key management personnel to 
include senior employees and directors of its wholly 
owned subsidiaries whowhatwherewhenwhy and 
OML Belfast Limited.

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel of whowhatwherewhenwhy total £227,112. 
(2018: £153,838).

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel including directors of OML Belfast Limited 
total £683,965. (2018: £781,472). 

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel including directors for the group were 
£1,024,496 (2018: £1,061,019).

The company had no employees other than its 
directors (2018: none).

12 TAX

There was no corporation taxation charge for the 
year in the company as The Odyssey Trust Company 
Limited has charitable status (HMRC XR23673) 
and is registered with the Charity Commission for 
Northern Ireland (charity number NIC100113) and is 
therefore exempt.

13 LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The parent undertaking has not presented its own 
profit and loss account as permitted by section 408 
of the Companies Act 2006. The amount of the loss 
in the financial statements of the parent undertaking 
was £390,387 (2018 - £476,896).

 

Group Negative
goodwill £

Cost

At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 (1,340,010)

Amortisation

At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 1,340,010

Net book value

At 31 March 2019                      -
At 31 March 2018                       -

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Negative goodwill arose on the acquisition of 
WhoWhatWhereWhenWhy. 
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15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group Land
£

Long leasehold
buildings

£

Plant and
machinery

£

Fixtures and 
fittings

£
Exhibits

£

Motor
vehicles

£

Car
parks

£
Total 

£
Cost

At 1 April 2018 4,373,792 53,405,199 13,102,580 27,860,284 4,141,610 21,920 1,083,948 103,989,333

Additions - 251,011 10,359 1,116,725 1,116,000 - - 2,494,095

Disposals - - (17,695) (93,654) (38,930) - (1,000) (151,279)

At 31 March 2019 4,373,792 53,656,210 13,095,244 28,883,355 5,218,680 21,920 1,082,948 106,332,149

Depreciation

At 1 April 2018 - 17,644,918 13,031,973 24,472,429 3,829,006 21,920 442,864 59,443,110

Charge for the year - 1,073,208 14,577 992,718 203,419 - - 2,283,922

Disposals - - (17,695) (89,717) (38,945) - - (146,357)

At 31 March 2019 - 18,718,126 13,028,855 25,375,430 3,993,480 21,920 442,864 61,580,675

Net book value

At 31 March 2019 4,373,792 34,938,084 66,389 3,507,925 1,225,200 - 640,084 44,751,474

At 31 March 2018 4,373,792 35,760,281 70,607 3,387,855 312,604 - 641,084 44,546,223
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In 2002 the Company entered into an agreement in which part of the property was sold and then leased back over 15 years. On 16 January 2012, a further sub-under 
lease was granted to the Company thereby increasing the interest of the Company in the property.

Company Land
£

Long leasehold
buildings

£

Plant and
machinery

£
Fixtures and fittings

£
Car Parks

£
Total 

£
Cost

At 1 April 2018 2,002,796 32,344,939 8.675,706 27,327,765 1,083,948 71,435,154

Additions - - - 999,436 - 999,436

Disposals - - - (39,011) (1,000) (40,011)

At 31 March 2019 2,002,796 32,344,939 8,675,706 28,288,190 1,082,948 72,394,579

Depreciation

At 1 April 2018 - 10,965,681 8,675,706 24,154,275 443,164 44,238,826

Charge for the year - 646,347 - 930,593 - 1,576,940

Disposals - - - (35,074) - (35,074)

At 31 March 2019 - 11,612,028 8,675,706 25,049,794 443,164 45,780,692

Net book value

At 31 March 2019 2,002,796 20,732,911 - 3,238,396 639,784 26,613,887

At 31 March 2018 2,002,796 21,379,258 - 3,173,490 640,784 27,196,328

Group
£

Company
£

Long leaseholds 33,083,016    20,607,733

15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)
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Company Subsiduary 
Companies £

Cost

At 1 April 2018 76,933,370

At 31 March 2019 76,933,370

Amounts written off:

At 1 April 2018 74,974,413

Write off in the year -

At 31 March 2019 74,974,413

Net book value

At 31 March 2019 1,958,957

At 31 March 2018 1,958,957

16 INVESTMENTS

Name of company
Nature of
Business

Country of Incorporation
or registration

Proportion of 
Ordinary shares held 

by company

Odyssey Construction Company Ltd* Dormant Northern Ireland 100%

OML Belfast Limited* Estate Management/
trading activities Northern Ireland 100%

Odyssey Property Company1 Property Great Britain 100%

WhoWhatWhereWhenWhy^* Science Centre Northern Ireland 100%

WhoWhatWhereWhenWhyonline Ltd* Retail Northern Ireland 100%

Silverstream Enterprises Limited* Dormant Northern Ireland 100%

The above companies operated principally in Northern Ireland. The companies investment in 
whowhatwherewhenwhy Ltd indirect ownership, all other investments are direct ownership.

^ A company limited by guarantee with charitable status (registered charity number XR38795).  The 
company is registered with the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland (charity number NIC100112).

* The registered address of these subsidiary undertakings is 2 Queen's Quay, Belfast, BT3 9QQ.

1 The registered address of this subsidiary undertaking is Collingham House, 6-12 Gladstone Road, 
Wimbledon, London, England.
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Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Goods for resale 223,786 199,356 - -

17 STOCKS

The difference between the value of goods for resale and their replacement cost is not material. Stock is stated after provisions for impairment of £4,598 (2018: £5,478).

18 DEBTORS

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 265,390 918,534 - 344,400

Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 3,231,024 3,772,254

Other tax and social security - - 8,163 -

Other debtors 451,069 317,463 - -

Prepayments and accrued income 841,393 483,785 53,537 58,963

1,557,852 1,719,782 3,292,724 4,175,617

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Prepayments 19,693 22,155 19,693 22,155

Total debtors 1,577,545 1,741,937 3,312,417 4,197,772

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
Trade debtors is stated after provisions for impairment of £36,850 (2018: £36,850).
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19 CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Short term deposits 4,567,652 4,399,948 1,500,000 1,999,948

Rent deposit 700,571 700,390 - -

Securities 232,001 - 232,001 -

Cash 269,217 - 269,217 -

5,769,441 5,100,338 2,001,218 1,999,948

Investments in short term deposits have an original maturity date of 12 months or less.
The rent deposit is in relation to cash at bank held as security, with financial restrictions attached, and therefore cannot be used by the group for trading purposes.

The securities are managed and held on behalf of the Charity by Cunningham & Coates, a trading name of Smith & Williamson Investment Management LLP.  The 
securities are carried at market value as at the balance sheet date.

20 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Restricted for use - Arena 2,822,978 2,825,514 - -

Restricted for use - W5 750,271 325,504 - -

Restricted - Estate Management 405,210 220,018 - -

Unrestricted funds to meet ongoing needs of the Charity 2,462,908 3,981,332 906,178 34,976

6,441,367 7,352,368 906,178 34,976

The balances are analysed as follows:
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21 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Trade creditors 1,689,156 1,074,622 42,467 19,679

Amounts owed to group undertakings - - 2,500,902 2,692,727

Other tax and social security 221,759 357,631 - 34,799

Other creditors 983,414 770,945 - -

Accruals 1,865,483 1,394,523 32,831 33,932

Deferred income 2,872,392 4,141,447 - -

7,632,204 7,739,168 2,576,200 2,781,137

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

22 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Other creditors 2,005,389 2,473,774 - -

The group entered into a commercial contract to benefit the future profitability and cash flows of part of the business. Under FRS 102, Section 21 Provisions & 
Contingencies, the present value of the future payments is accrued at the inception of the contract, while the potential future benefits will accrue over the next 7 years.  
The liability will be repaid over the next 7 years.

The group entered into a deposit deed during the year to hold cash, with financial restrictions attached, due back to the tenant at the end of the agreement. Due to the 
financial restrictions in place, the cash cannot be used for trading purposes and therefore has not been discounted at 31 March 2019.
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23 PENSIONS

The Group and Charity operates a defined contribution scheme in respect of eligible employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group 
and Charity in independently administered funds. Unpaid contributions outstanding at 31 March 2019 amounted to £16,999 (2018 - £26,420).

Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

Contributions payable by the charity for the year 382,572 388,727 - -

Group 2019
£

2018
£

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 23,011 22,258

In two to five years 79,367 80,584

Over five years 47,283 63,882

149,661 166,724

24 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Charity 2019
£

2018
£

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 15,417 15,143

In two to five years 64,580 63,398

Over five years 47,283 63,882

127,280 142,423
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Group 2019
£

2018
£

Financial assets

Cash 6,441,367 7,352,368

Investments 5,769,441 5,100,338

Trade debtors 265,390 918,534

Other debtors 451,069 317,463

Accrued income 861,086 168,741

Financial assets held at amortised cost 13,788,353 13,857,444

Financial liabilities

Trade creditors 1,689,156 1,074,622

Other creditors 2,988,803 3,244,719

Accruals 1,865,483 1,394,523

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost 6,543,442 5,713,864

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
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Company 2019
£

2018
£

Financial assets

Cash 906,178 34,976

Investments 1,500,000 1,999,948

Trade debtors - 344,400

Amounts owed by group undertakings 3,231,024 3,772,254

Accrued income 13,537 18,963

5,650,739 6,170,541

Financial liabilities

Trade creditors 42,467 19,679

Amounts owed to group undertakings 2,500,902 2,692,727

Other tax and social security - 34,799

Accruals 32,831 33,932

2,576,200 2,781,137

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Group Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Tangible fixed assets 38,650,422 6,101,052 44,751,474

Net current liabilities/(assets) (1,662,946) 8,042,881 6,379,935

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (2,005,389) (2,005,389)

36,987,476 12,138,544 49,126,020

26 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS

Balances at 31 March 2019 are funded by:

Group Restricted
Funds 2018 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2018 £

Total
2018 £

Tangible fixed assets 44,546,223 - 44,546,223

Net current liabilities/(assets) (6,524,911) 13,179,742 6,654,831

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (2,473,774) (2,473,774)

38,021,312 10,705,968 48,727,280

Balances at 31 March 2018 are funded by:

Charity Restricted
Funds 2019 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019 £

Total
2019 £

Tangible fixed assets 26,613,887 - 26,613,887

Net current liabilities/(assets) (14,106,583) 19,709,153 5,602,570

12,507,304 19,709,153 32,216,457

Balances at 31 March 2019 are funded by:

Charity Restricted
Funds 2018 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2018 £

Total
2018 £

Tangible fixed assets 27,196,328 - 27,196,328

Net current liabilities/(assets) (13,655,189) 19,065,705 5,410,516

13,541,139 19,065,705 32,606,844

Balances at 31 March 2018 are funded by:
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27 STATEMENT OF FUNDS

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds

Group General
reserves £

Designated
funds £

Total
 unrestricted

funds £
Construction

fund £
Friendship 

Four fund £
Continental 
Cup fund £

W5
fund £

Estate
management

fund £

Total
restricted

funds £
Total

funds £

At 1 April 2018 1,376,088 9,329,880 10,705,968 38,021,312 - - - - 38,021,312 48,727,280

Income 12,791,374 - 12,791,374 - 157,121 93,762 3,868,167 554,076 4,673,126 17,464,500

Expenditures (10,606,188) (1,938,373) (12,544,561) (1,033,836) (157,121) (93,762) (2,682,404) (554,076) (4,521,199) (17,065,760)

Transfers (1,075,526) 2,261,289 1,185,763 - - - (1,185,763) - (1,185,763) -

At 31 March 2019 2,485,748 9,652,796 12,138,544 36,987,476 - - - - 36,987,476 49,126,020

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds

Charity General
reserves £

Designated
funds £

Total
 unrestricted

funds £
Construction

fund £

Total
restricted

funds £
Total

fund £

At 1 April 2018 15,336,669 3,729,036 19,065,705 13,541,139 13,541,139 32,606,844

Income 5,597,404 - 5,597,404 - - 5,597,404

Expenditures (3,404,544) (1,549,412) (4,953,956) (1,033,835) (1,033,835) (5,987,791)

Transfers (2,457,930) 2,457,930 - - - -

At 31 March 2019 15,071,599 4,637,554 19,709,153 12,507,304 12,507,304 32,216,457
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Group Company

2019
£

2018
£

2019
£

2018
£

As at 31 March 1,845,800 13,455 - -

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted:

27 STATEMENT OF FUNDS
(CONTINUED)

The General reserve represents the funds of the 
Charity, which are not designated for particular 
purposes.

The Designated fund has been set up by the 
Directors to meet the requirement of the funders, to 
establish a reserve necessary to meet future funding 
obligations of the organisation and to sustain the 
project’s viability in the longer term.

The Construction fund represents money received 
from the funders relating to the initial capital cost 
from construction of the project less depreciation.

The W5 fund represents the income and expenditure 
for W5, the wholly owned subsidiary of the charity, 
which also has charitable status.

The Friendship Four fund represents money 
received from funders less expenditure incurred to 
enable the hosting of the Friendship Four ice hockey 
tournament.

Continental Cup Fund represents money received 
from International Ice Hockey Federation less 
expenditure incurred to host the Continental Cup 
final.

The Estate Management fund is for the purpose of 
providing services for the entire Odyssey site, which 
are recharged to the tenants. These services include 
security, maintenance, cleaning, electricity and 
insurance.

2019
£

2018
£

Net operating profit 452,652 105,316

Operating profit 452,652 105,316

Interest payable (80,794) (94,452)

Interest receivable 26,882 12,583

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 398,740 23,447

Taxation - -

Retained profit for the year after tax 398,740 23,447

29 GROUP INCOME AND EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted:

The above reflects the Trust's Income and Expenditure account as required by the Companies Act 2006 as 
opposed to that required under the relevant sections of the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their financial statements in accordance with 
the FRS 102 (Charities SORP (FRS 102).

Capital commitments as at 31 March 2019 relate to a contractual commitment for exhibit renewal/refurbishment 
as part of the Inspiring Science Capital program within W5.
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Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted:

Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted:

Company 2019
£

Grant funding 30,000

Expenditure

Travel 30,000

-

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The charity has taken advantage of the exemption 
of FRS 102 Section 33 Related Party Disclosures 
paragraph 33.11 from the requirements to disclose 
transactions with other members of the group which 
are party to the transaction.

31 FRIENDSHIP FOUR/HOCKEY 
FRIENDS PROGRAMMES

The Friendship Four event received grant funding 
from the following body:

Sport NI Exchequer Funding £30,000

The related expenditure of Sport NI Exchequer 
Funding was used entirely for travel expenses.

32 LIABILITY OF MEMBERS

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited is a company 
limited by guarantee without share capital. The 
liability of the members is limited to an amount not 
exceeding £10.

33 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Millennium Commission has a floating charge 
over the assets of the ReDiscover 2 and ReDiscover 
3 projects. This charge will crystallise in the event of 
default by the charity’s subsidiary under the terms 
of the contract. It is not practicable to estimate the 
financial effect of a potential default.

34 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The group consider the Board of Trustees to be their 
ultimate controlling party.
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The Odyssey Trust Company Limited, Trustees, Management and 
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Chairperson
E Porter
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C Byrnes
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C Magee  
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of Smith & Williamson Investment 
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Bank of Ireland
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Belfast 
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Independent Auditors
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Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Auditors
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Company Secretary
J A Gillen

Registered Office
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Chief Executive Officer
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Director - Xperience Operations
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Group Head of Finance
J A Gillen
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Commercial
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Public Affairs
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